8 Foraging Ecology and Nutrition of Sea Turtles

Karen A. Bjorndal

CONTENTS

8.1	Introd	ntroduction				
8.2	Foraging Ecology					
	8.2.1	Green Turtle, Chelonia mydas				
	8.2.2	Loggerhead, Caretta caretta	202			
	8.2.3	Hawksbill, Eretmochelys imbricata	204			
	8.2.4	Kemp's Ridley, Lepidochelys kempi	206			
	8.2.5	Olive Ridley, Lepidochelys olivacea	207			
	8.2.6	Flatback, Natator depressus				
	8.2.7	Leatherback, Dermochelys coriacea	209			
8.3	Diet Selection					
8.4	Role	Role of Sea Turtles in Structuring Foraging Habitat Communities				
8.5	Digestive Processing and Nutrition					
	8.5.1	Intake				
	8.5.2	Digestion	214			
	8.5.3	Passage of Digesta	218			
8.6	Anthropogenic Effects on Foraging Ecology and Nutrition					
	8.6.1	Marine Debris				
	8.6.2	Commercial Fisheries	219			
	8.6.3	Degradation of Foraging Habitats	220			
8.7	Concl	usions				
8.8	Acknowledgments					
Refe						

8.1. INTRODUCTION

The closest interaction of an organism with its environment is the ingestion of a subset of that environment and the subsequent alteration and absorption of that subset as it passes through the digestive tract of the organism. The absorbed nutrients fuel the productivity — both growth and reproduction — of the organism. The pivotal

role that nutrition plays in the productivity of individuals and populations — and thus to the conservation of species — has often been overlooked.

Differences in diet, either in quality or quantity, are believed to cause the great differences in mean growth rates of green turtles from different foraging areas in the Hawaiian Archipelago. An herbivorous diet has important consequences for the life history parameters and survival outlook of green turtles, and green turtles have significant effects on the nutrient cycling and community structure of their seagrass foraging habitats. As ignificant correlation between indices of the El Niño Southern Oscillation and the numbers of green turtles nesting approximately two years later at Heron Island and Raine Island is believed to have a nutritional basis, but the mechanism is not known. No major changes in seagrass abundance in the foraging areas of these green turtles have been reported, so that if the cause is nutritional, variations in quality rather than quantity of seagrasses may be responsible.

Only by understanding the quantitative aspects of diet selection, digestive processing, and nutrition can we hope to understand the role of sea turtles in marine ecosystems and to elucidate how nutrition acts as regulating mechanisms in the productivity of sea turtles. As we make progress in descriptions of population structure and in development of population models, an understanding of how nutrition regulates productivity will allow us to move to the next level and to address how we can enhance or modify productivity to improve the survival outlook of these endangered species.

8.2 FORAGING ECOLOGY

Tremendous gaps remain in our understanding of the foraging ecology of sea turtles. For some species, little progress in the elucidation of diet and foraging habitats has been made since reviews summarized the state of our knowledge more than 10 years ago.^{3,9}

Results from some of the studies reviewed here must be interpreted with care. Small sample sizes, possible misidentification of species, evaluation of reproductive animals, and analysis of feces may contribute to misleading conclusions. Because the foraging habitats of most populations of sea turtles are quite different from the habitats off their nesting beaches, food items ingested by turtles during reproductive migrations or nesting seasons may not reflect their usual diet on the foraging grounds. Unfortunately, the reproductive status of the turtles is often not reported. Analyzing diet based on feces can result in the omission or underestimation of more digestible foods. Stomach lavage offers a better option for quantitative analysis of diet. 10,11

8.2.1 GREEN TURTLE, CHELONIA MYDAS

Young green turtles are believed to occupy open ocean pelagic habitats, perhaps in association with sargassum rafts in some areas, after leaving the nesting beach. 12,13 It is assumed that they are omnivorous with a strong tendency to carnivory during this life stage. 3 Records of diet from small pelagic green turtles are very few. One hatchling, swimming away from a beach in Bermuda, dived down 1 m and ate a

small ctenophore.¹⁴ The stomach of a green turtle (25.7 cm straight carapace length) removed from the stomach of a shark caught 107 km off Durban, South Africa was filled with the pelagic snail *Janthina janthina*.¹⁵ Plasma color provides additional evidence of a carnivorous diet in pelagic-stage green turtles. When green turtles first arrive on benthic foraging areas in the Bahamas, their plasma is unpigmented; after they have begun feeding on seagrasses, their plasma has yellow pigmentation,¹⁶ a result of plant pigments.¹⁷

Green turtles leave pelagic habitats and enter benthic foraging areas at a size of 20 to 25 cm carapace length in the western Atlantic¹⁸ and at 35 cm in Hawaii and Australia.^{19,20} At that time they shift to an herbivorous diet, and, as herbivores, occupy a feeding niche unique among sea turtles. Green turtles feed primarily on seagrasses and algae, although they also consume animal matter, particularly jellyfish, salps, and sponges. The early literature on feeding habits was reviewed by Mortimer.^{9,21}

Few reports are available on the diet of green turtles in the Indian Ocean and the Arabian Sea. Green turtles in the Gulf of Mannar and Palk Bay, India feed primarily on the seagrasses *Halophila ovalis*, *Thalassia* sp., and the alga *Gelidiella acerosa*; other seagrasses and algae were taken in smaller amounts as were squid eggs and sponges.²² In South Yemen, the seagrasses *Posidonia oceanica*, *Halodule uninervis*, *Syringodium isoetifolium*, and *Cymodocea serrulata* are the main diet species for green turtles.^{23,24} Green turtles in Oman feed on the seagrasses *Halodule uninervis*, *Halophila ovalis*, *Halophila ovata*, and the algae *Chaetomorpha aerea* and *Sargassum illicifolium*.²⁵ Green turtles in the Seychelles Islands and in the Comoro Archipelago feed primarily on *Thalassodendron ciliatum* and ingest smaller amounts of other seagrasses and algae.^{26,27}

More data are available for green turtles on the Australian shelf. For green turtles from Moreton Bay, Queensland, Australia, the mouth contents, in order of frequency of occurrence, were the seagrasses *Halophila ovalis*, *Halodule uninervis*, *Zostera capricorni*, *Halophila spinulosa*, and the alga *Hypnea cervicornis*; green turtles in this area also feed on the jellyfish *Catostylus mosaicus*.²⁰ In 44 green turtle stomachs from Torres Strait, red algae were dominant (42 stomachs with >5% dry mass), brown and green algae were equivalent (14 and 13 stomachs with >5% dry mass, respectively), and seagrasses were present in 8 stomachs at >5% dry mass.²⁸ Based on stomach contents from five green turtles feeding near Sir Edward Pellew Island, Australia, the major diet species is the seagrass *Halodule pinifolia* with lesser amounts of *H. uninervis* and *Halophila spinulosa*.²⁹

Unfortunately, only preliminary results are available from the most quantitative study to date on feeding habits and diet selection in green turtles. Based on stomach lavage of 518 green turtles feeding on the reefs surrounding Heron Island, Australia, the diet was composed of 38 species of red algae, 21 species of green algae, and 10 species of brown algae. Gelatinous animal tissue — *Physalia* and mollusc egg cases — were also consumed.

Records of the diet of green turtles are available from a number of locations in the rest of the Pacific. Algae comprise the diet of green turtles in the Ogasawara Islands, Japan;³¹ in Tokelau, South Central Pacific;³² and at Johnston Atoll.³³ The diet of green turtles in the Hawaiian Archipelago includes 56 species of algae (of

which 9 species are the major diet components), 1 species of seagrass, and 9 types of invertebrates. 19,34,35 Five species of algae intentionally introduced into Hawaii for aquaculture projects are consumed by green turtles. 36,37

Green turtles along the East Pacific coast may have more carnivorous diets than those in other regions. Algae were found in all stomachs from 20 green turtles captured in Peru, jellyfish in 12 stomachs, fish in 12 stomachs, and molluscs in 10 stomachs.³⁸ Analysis of stomach contents from 39 green turtles (carapace lengths 52 to 89 cm) captured near Pisco, Peru, revealed the following percent occurrences: molluscs (primarily *Mytilus*, *Nassarius*, and *Semele*), 64%; algae (mainly *Gigartina* and *Rhodymenia*), 51%; polychaetes, 49%; jellyfish and commensal amphipods (*Hyperia medusarum*), 31%; fish and fish eggs, 23%; salt grass (*Distichlis*), 18%; and crustaceans, 13%.³⁹ The stomach of a large (71-cm carapace length) green turtle captured in a pelagic habitat 40 nautical miles off the coast of Manta, Ecuador contained fish eggs along with a small amount of sargassum to which the eggs had been attached.⁴⁰ The digestive tracts of 7 green turtles captured off the coasts of Colima and Jalisco, Mexico contained green and red algae (4 turtles) and a great diversity of invertebrates and chordates (all turtles).⁴¹

In the Caribbean, the seagrass *Thalassia testudinum* is the primary diet species for the green turtle.^{2,42} *Thalassia* comprised 87% of the dry mass of contents from 202 stomachs from green turtles captured on foraging grounds off the Caribbean coast of Nicaragua; other seagrasses (*Syringodium filiforme*, *Halodule wrightii*) made up an additional 5%.⁴³ On the southwestern Cuban Shelf, 14 green turtles had fed primarily on the seagrass *T. testudinum* and the sponge *Chondrilla nucula*.⁴⁴ Along the coast of Brazil, algae are the primary diet.^{45,46} Green turtles in a lagoon in Florida, fed primarily on the seagrasses *S. filiforme* and *H. wrightii* with lesser amounts of the seagrass *Halophila engelmanni* and red and green algae.⁴⁷ Small green turtles in the waters of Long Island, New York fed on the seagrass *Z. marina* and on 5 species of algae — 3 green and 2 brown.⁴⁸

8.2.2 LOGGERHEAD, CARETTA CARETTA

For the first few years of life, loggerheads forage in open ocean pelagic habitats, often — at least in the Atlantic — in association with sargassum. ^{12,13,15,49} Loggerheads begin to move into shallower waters where they forage over a variety of benthic hard- and soft-bottom habitats at a size of about 40 to 50 cm carapace length in the Atlantic ⁵⁰ and at 70 to 80 cm on the Australian continental shelf and southwestern Pacific basin. ⁵¹ One or more large loggerheads were found associated with two submarine geothermal springs on the West Florida Shelf, Gulf of Mexico. ⁵² Benthic epifauna and nekton were considerably enriched in the area around the springs.

Diet items from post-hatchling loggerheads captured near the nesting beach have been recorded off the coasts of South Africa and the southeastern U.S. Stomach contents from 37 loggerhead hatchlings stranded on Cape Agulhas, South Africa, yielded *Physalia physalis*, fragments of algae, bark, feathers, and fine grit that may have been pieces of *Janthina* shells. ¹⁵ Stomachs of five loggerhead hatchlings washed ashore in Florida, in masses of sargassum during a hurricane contained sargassum

floats and leaf parts, two snails (*Litiopa melanostoma*) that associate with sargassum, the pelagic snail *Diacria trispinosa*, and pieces of crustacean appendages.⁵³ Two dead loggerhead hatchlings, both with small yolk sacs, were found at the west wall of the Gulf Stream 93 km east of Florida, and their guts contained three categories of food: terrestrial insects, marine animals, and marine plants.⁵⁴ The insects included ants (winged, sexual forms), a fly, an aphid, leafhoppers, planthoppers, beetles, and unidentified thorax fragments. The authors suggested that aerial insect plankton settled on the ocean surface and were accumulated in convergence zones. Marine animals that had been ingested were hydrozoan colonies, goose and acorn barnacles, amphipods, crab zoea, shrimp eye capsules, planktonic fish eggs, and unidentified muscle and chitinous fragments. Marine plants ingested were sargassum leaf and bladder fragments and unidentified algal fragments. Major diet items flushed from the stomachs of 42 post-hatchlings off the coast of Florida included gelatinous animals (predominately medusae and ctenophores), crustaceans (primarily larval shrimp and crabs), hydrozoans, insects, gastropods, sargassum, and an actinid anemone ⁵⁵

The diet of pelagic juvenile loggerheads has been recorded in several studies. Brongersma⁵⁶ reviewed the early literature on feeding habits of pelagic loggerheads in the Atlantic. The stomachs from loggerheads taken near the Azores and Madeira contained salps, jellyfish, amphipods Hyperia medusarum that associate with medusae, pteropods Hyalaea tridentata, the crab Nautilograpsus (= Planes) minutus, bunches of the barnacle Lepas anatifera, many sygnathid fish Entelurus aequoreus, squid, and the pelagic snail Janthina. Brongersma⁵⁶ expressed doubt that loggerheads could catch fish, but suggested that the slow speed of the sygnathid fish and the mass mortalities of these fish that have been observed in the area could account for the presence of these fish in the loggerheads. A careful analysis of the gut contents of five juvenile loggerheads from the waters around Madeira, Selvagens Islands, and the Azores revealed that the major diet components were pelagic coelenterates (primarily siphonophores and to a lesser extent scyphomedusae and hydromedusae), salps (*Pyrosoma atlanticum*), gastropods (*Janthina* spp. and *Pterotrachea* spp.), barnacles (*Lepas* spp.), and the isopod *Idotea metallica*.⁵⁷ The jellyfish *Pelagia* noctiluca is an important prey species for North Atlantic loggerheads.⁴⁹ Food items from six pelagic-stage loggerheads (5.2 to 30.0 cm straight carapace length) that stranded dead along the south Texas coast included sargassum, jellyfish, Janthina, Litiopa melanostoma, and decapod and stomatopod larvae. 58 Pelagic loggerheads in the North Pacific feed primarily on Velella velella and Janthina sp. 49

Dodd⁵⁹ presented a thorough species list of diet items found in the digestive tracts of all life stages of loggerheads. Loggerheads feeding in benthic environments ingest a wide range of invertebrates. Some of these prey items would seem to yield relatively low nutrient gain, such as horseshoe crabs, *Limulus polyphemus*, which is the most common prey item of loggerheads in Virginia.⁶⁰ Post-pelagic-stage loggerheads feed throughout the water column, capturing jellyfish and salps at the surface and middle depths, but they apparently concentrate their foraging efforts on the bottom. Loggerheads in Moreton Bay, Australia create broad depressions in the substrate with sweeping movements of the front flippers, thus exposing burrowing

bivalves, such as *Anadara trapezia*, *Pinna bicolor*, and *Solen grandis*, which the loggerheads then ingest.⁶¹ Loggerheads in this area also feed on the anemone *Stichodactyla haddoni* and the crab *Portunus pelagicus*.

Since the review by Dodd,⁵⁹ two quantitative analyses of loggerhead feeding habits have been published. Feces were collected from 25 loggerheads captured in the waters around Long Island, New York.⁶² Crabs (*Libinia emarginata*, *Cancer irroratus*, *Pagurus pollicaris*, and *Ovalipes ocellatus*) were present in the feces from 90% of the turtles, molluscs (*Mytilus edulis* and *Busycon* spp.) in 40% of the turtles, and algae (*Sargassum natans*, *Ulva* sp., and *Fucus* spp.) in 20% of the turtles. As noted by the authors, prey that undergo extensive digestion, such as jellyfish, will be missed in a study based on feces. The stomach contents of another loggerhead from this region yielded 18 seahorses (*Hippocampus erectus*), invertebrates, and marine plants.⁶³

Digestive tract contents were analyzed from 82 loggerheads that stranded dead in south Texas over a three-year period.⁶⁴ The sea pen (*Virgularia presbytes*) was the most common prey with a frequency of occurrence of 56% and comprising 59% of the total prey dry weight. Crabs were the second most important prey item with a frequency of occurrence of 88% and making up 29% of the total prey dry weight. Nine species of crabs were identified; walking, or benthic, crabs were most important, while swimming (portunid) crabs were less commonly consumed. Molluscs, tube worms, barnacles, fish, vegetation, sea pansies, whip corals, sea anemones, mantis shrimp, penaeid shrimp, and *Physalia physalis* were also identified in the gut contents. Significant dietary shifts occurred among seasons. Loggerheads fed mainly on sea pens in the spring, and crabs were the major diet component in summer and fall when crabs increase in abundance in the region.

8.2.3 HAWKSBILL, ERETMOCHELYS IMBRICATA

Post-hatchling hawksbills apparently are pelagic, often living in close association with floating rafts of *Sargassum*.^{12,13,65} As with all species of sea turtles, data on the diet of the pelagic stage of hawksbills are limited. Much of the material in the digestive tracts of four hawksbills (14.0 to 21.3 cm straight carapace length) that stranded dead on Florida beaches could not be identified, but *Sargassum* spp. (either *S. fluitans* or *S. natans*) and unidentified animal matter were found in large proportions in at least one of the animals.⁶⁶ Small quantities of the following food items were also found: *Syringodium filiforme*, *Microdictyon* sp., woody plant remains, shell fragments of goose barnacles, eggs of pelagic fish, tunicate, crab chela, and unidentified algae.

Hawksbills leave the pelagic and begin foraging in benthic habitats at a minimum straight carapace length of 20 to 25 cm in the Caribbean⁶⁷ and at a minimum curved carapace length of 35 cm in Australia.⁶⁸ Hawksbills forage most commonly over coral reefs and rock outcroppings, but also feed over seagrass pastures in mangrove-fringed bays.^{18,69,70}

In a thorough study of gut contents from post-pelagic hawksbills, Meylan⁶⁶ deposed the reigning theory that hawksbills were indiscriminate omnivores and demonstrated that they specialize on a diet of sponges, at least in the Caribbean.

Sponges comprised 95.3% of the dry mass of total contents from the digestive tracts of 61 hawksbills from throughout the Caribbean.⁶⁷ Hawksbills feed very selectively: 98.9% of the dry mass of all identified sponges from hawksbills were from 3 of the 13 orders of demosponges (Astrophorida, Hadromerida and Spirophorida). Hawksbills avoid sponges with spongin, but silica spicules apparently are not a feeding deterrent. The 10 highest-ranked prey sponges (in descending order) were *Chondrilla nucula*, *Ancorina* sp., *Geodia* sp., *Placospongia* sp., *Suberites* sp., *Myriastra* sp., *Ecionemia* sp., *Chondrosia* sp., *Aaptos* sp., and *Tethya* cf. *actinia*.⁶⁷

Studies conducted in Cuban waters report similar results. In 8 mature hawksbills taken during the breeding season in the Gulf of Batabanó, all had sponges in their stomachs (all contained *Chondrilla nucula*, one had consumed *T. diploderma*, and two had unidentified sponge species).⁴⁴ In a larger study of 73 hawksbills, sponges comprised over 90% of the diet of all hawksbills between 50 and 80 cm.⁷¹ Nine sponge species were identified; the 5 most common were *C. nucula*, *Chondrosia collectrix*, *G. gibberosa*, *Erylus ministrongylus*, and *T. aurantia*.

At Mona Island, Puerto Rico, demosponges have been found to comprise essentially the entire diet of subadult hawksbills. Another study reported the gut contents of six hawksbills from Puerto Rico: one adult had 95% of the sponge *Chondrilla nucula*, one adult had 90% of the sponge *G. neptuni*, one adult had ingested only the sea cucumber *Holothuria cubana*, the stomachs of two juveniles contained only the sponge *C. nucula*, and one juvenile had fed on four species of demosponges. The stomachs from an additional eleven hawksbills from Puerto Rico were full of demosponges, with *C. nucula* the most common species. Other accounts of consumption of sponges by hawksbills in the Atlantic system are reviewed by Meylan.

Invertebrates other than sponges have been reported as major diet components in the Atlantic, and marine plants have been noted in gut contents. Other than sponges, tunicates were the major diet component of 20 hawksbills captured off Tortuguero, Costa Rica. The Costa Rican hawksbills had also ingested bryozoans, coelenterates, molluscs, and marine plants. The sea anemone *Anemonia sulcata* made up the bulk of the gut contents of a hawksbill from Selvagem Pequena (north of the Canary Islands), which also included other coelenterates, sponges, oceanic squid, gastropods, a sea urchin, a spider crab (*Inachus* sp.), and algae. Several marine plants were recorded in the digestive tracts of Caribbean hawksbills. 44.66,71

Early diet records for hawksbills in the Pacific and Indian oceans suggested a more omnivorous diet; large quantities of vegetation such as *Sargassum*, *Rhizophora*, *Cymodocea*, and unidentified algae were reported from stomach contents. ^{65,77,78} Two hawksbills from the Philippines had seagrass, sponges, and algae (*Eucheuma* and *Codium*) in their stomachs. ⁷⁹ Witzell⁸⁰ summarizes other accounts of hawksbills feeding on a wide range of diet items in the Pacific.

More recent studies, however, report that sponges form the preponderance of the diet in the Pacific and Indian oceans. Hawksbills feed on sponges and soft corals in the Seychelles,²⁶ and sponges were dominant in the digestive tract from 35 hawksbills from Cosmoledo, Seychelles (J. Mortimer, personal communication in Meylan).⁶⁶ An immature hawksbill from Mohéli, Comores had consumed four types of demosponges.²⁷ The stomachs of two subadult hawksbills from Masirah Island,

Oman contained only sponges.⁸¹ A mature hawksbill from Oahu, Hawaii had at least three species of sponge in its digestive tract.⁸² Sponges were the major food in two hawksbill stomachs from South Africa and one from Pacific Panama.⁶⁷ All reports from the Pacific and Indian oceans are based on only a few turtles (other than the personal communication of J. Mortimer); larger studies are needed to establish the diet of hawksbills in the Pacific.

Hawksbills may undergo a period of omnivorous feeding in benthic habitats before they adopt the specialized spongivory of larger juveniles and adults. Data from three studies support this theory. First, two of the smallest individuals among 38 hawksbills studied by Meylan, 66 had significant quantities of nonsponge material in their digestive tracts: a 23-cm hawksbill and a 26-cm hawksbill had consumed invertebrates other than sponges, fish, and substrate (58 and 22% by dry weight, respectively) in addition to sponges (42 and 78%, respectively). Three other hawksbills in this size class had ingested 95 to 100% sponges. Second, feces collected from a 33-cm hawksbill captured in the Miskito Cays, Nicaragua contained the red alga Coelothrix irregularis (70% of the feces volume), tubes from two species of polychaetes, sponge spicules, a hydroid, and pieces of a snail shell and a pelecypod shell.83 Third, in Cuba, stomach contents were analyzed from 73 hawksbills ranging in size from 30 to 90 cm carapace length. Although sponges represented over 90% of the diet for individuals larger than 50 cm, the stomachs from the two smallest individuals had significant quantities of other foods. The red alga Gracilaria sp. composed 84% (by weight) of the stomach contents from a 30-cm individual, and the stomach from a 40-cm hawksbill contained 33% of an unidentified ascidean. In both turtles, the rest of the stomach contents were sponges. Although the data in support of a transitional benthic diet are limited, such a diet would support the turtles as it adapts to the challenges — both mechanical (sharp silica spicules) and chemical (toxic compounds) — of feeding on a sponge diet.

Purposeful ingestion of the coralline substrate⁶⁶ and substantial quantities of the calcareous algae *Halimeda incrassata*⁷¹ by gravid female hawksbills has been noted. The authors suggest gravid females may consume these items as a source of calcium for eggshell production.

8.2.4 KEMP'S RIDLEY, LEPIDOCHELYS KEMPI

Kemp's ridleys apparently forage in surface waters during an early pelagic stage that lasts until the turtles reach approximately 20 cm carapace length. 12,84 At that size they move into relatively shallow water (less than 50 m) benthic foraging areas with unconsolidated substrates. 85 They will continue to forage in these areas, sometimes moving long distances between feeding grounds. 84

The only report of diet of small, pelagic-stage Kemp's ridleys is from two individuals of less than 10 cm carapace length that stranded dead on south Texas beaches. 86 These turtles had consumed Sargassum sp., pelagic molluscs (Recluzia rollandiana, Cavolina longirostris, and Litiopa melanostoma) that are often associated with sargassum, and crabs that could not be identified.

Post-pelagic Kemp's ridleys feed primarily on crabs. Crabs comprised the majority of the diet in 101 Kemp's ridleys that stranded dead on Texas beaches with a

percent occurrence of 77.7% and percent of total dry mass of digestive tract contents of 93.6%. 86 Other components were molluscs (62.4% occurrence and 2.2% dry mass), fish (25.7 and 0.4%), vegetation (61.4 and 0.3%), and shrimp (8.9 and 3.2%). The turtles consumed large quantities of both portunid crabs (*Arenaeus cribrarius*, *Callinectes sapidus*, *C. similus*, *Portunus gibbessii*, and *Ovalipes floridanus*) and other crabs (*Hepatus epheliticus*, *Libinia* sp., and *Persephona mediterranea*). This observation contradicts the earlier idea that Kemp's ridleys specialized on portunid crabs; the distribution of Kemp's ridleys may relate to the distribution of all major crab species consumed rather than to only the distribution of portunids. 86 The small quantities of vegetation probably were ingested incidental to other items in postpelagic turtles, and the small amounts of fish and shrimp ingested were probably the result of scavenging on dead bycatch from shrimping vessels or discarded bait. 86 The presence of *Nassarius* spp. — molluscs that scavenge on dead tissue — in 75% of those turtles that had consumed shrimp and in 50% of those turtles that had consumed fish support the latter conclusion.

Kemp's ridleys in coastal waters of New York State also feed primarily on crabs. 62,87 Spider crabs (*L. emarginatus*) were by far the most commonly consumed, followed by rock crabs (*Cancer irroratus*) and lady crabs (*O. ocellatus*). Molluscs (*Argopectin irradians, Mytilus edulis*, and *N. trivitattus*) were consumed in smaller quantities; small amounts of vegetation (*Fucus* sp., *S. natans, Ulva* sp., and *Z. marina*) also were ingested. Seahorses (*Hippocampus erectus*) — a fish that relies on crypsis rather than flight to avoid predation — comprised a substantial volume of the gut contents in two Kemp's ridleys from Long Island, New York. 63 Márquez-M.85 lists other accounts of the feeding habits of Kemp's ridleys.

8.2.5 OLIVE RIDLEY, LEPIDOCHELYS OLIVACEA

The habitat of juvenile olive ridleys is not known; few sightings of size classes between hatchlings and adults have been recorded.⁶⁹ Adult olive ridleys apparently utilize a wide range of foraging habitats. They feed in deep water, as indicated by capture in bottom trawls at depths of 80 to 110 m.⁸⁸ They are common in pelagic habitats,^{89,90} and they feed in relatively shallow benthic waters, sometimes near major estuaries.^{69,91}

The largest study of the diet of olive ridleys was conducted on 139 mature turtles (115 females and 24 males) that were captured off the Escobilla nesting beach in Oaxaca, Mexico. Salps (all in the genus *Metcalfina*, possibly the species *M. hexagona*) and fish composed the largest percentage of the total volume of stomach contents (45 and 42%, respectively), but occurred in only 14 and 5% of the turtles, respectively. The other constituents were molluscs (5% volume and 66% frequency of occurrence), crustaceans (4 and 48%), algae (2 and 51%), bryozoans (0.2% and 13%), and fish eggs, sipunculids, and ascidians (combined 0.1 and 11%). Percent volume and occurrence varied greatly among months and between sexes. Given the large sample size, the high volume percentages for some of the constituents with low percent occurrence (i.e., fish were found in only 5% of the turtles, but accounted for 42% of total stomach content volume) indicates that many of the stomachs must have contained only a small volume of contents. Because these turtles were in a

reproductive season, their stomach contents may not reflect the diet of olive ridleys on their foraging grounds.

There are other reports for olive ridleys from Mexico. Jellyfish and crabs were the major components of the stomach contents of 20 adult females captured off the state of Guerrero, Mexico. Five olive ridleys, presumably captured in Mexican waters, contained only *Pleuroncodes planipes*. The stomachs of six olive ridleys captured off the coasts of Colima and Jalisco, Mexico contained primarily benthic invertebrates: crabs, pelecypods, and gastropods. One turtle had consumed a scyphozoan medusa (*Pelagia* sp.).

Fritts⁹³ reviewed the notes of J.R. Slevin (1905 to 1906); Slevin reported that fish eggs filled the digestive tracts of two female olive ridleys captured near the Galápagos Islands, and small crabs filled the stomachs and intestines of two male olive ridleys captured south of Cocos Island. The stomachs of two olive ridleys captured about 40 nautical miles off Ecuador contained clumps of medusae.⁴⁰ Crabs, jellyfish, and tunicates have been recorded in the stomachs of olive ridleys from the eastern Pacific (unpublished reports cited in Mortimer).⁹ A mature female of 61-cm carapace length found in New Zealand waters had been feeding extensively on pelagic tunicates *Pyrosoma* and *Salpa*.⁹⁴

The diets of olive ridleys in the Indian and Atlantic oceans are poorly known. Deraniyagala⁷⁸ reported algae as the main diet component in olive ridleys from Sri Lanka, although young pearl oysters and the sea urchin *Clypeaster humilis* were also ingested. Stomachs from adult olive ridleys (number not stated) captured in India were full of algae.⁹⁵ The digestive tract from a female with about 200 ovarian eggs caught at a 20- to 24-m depth off Surinam contained two small catfish, ten snail shells, three small crab carapaces, and about 2 l of what was believed to be partially digested jellyfish.⁹⁶

8.2.6 FLATBACK, NATATOR DEPRESSUS

The flatback may be the only species of sea turtle that does not have an early pelagic stage as surmised from the presence of remains of post-hatchlings (11- to 21-cm carapace length) at island feeding stations of the white-bellied sea eagle, *Haliaeetus leucogaster*.^{97,98} The early post-hatchling stage is apparently spent within tens or hundreds of kilometers of their natal beaches over the Australian continental shelf where they inhabit shallow, turbid, weakly flushed, coastal waters protected from ocean swells.^{13,98} Primary feeding habitat of larger flatbacks appears to be turbid, shallow inshore waters off northeastern Australia and in the Gulf of Carpentaria, most commonly in areas 5 to 20 m deep.^{98,99}

The diet of the flatback is poorly documented. Stomach contents from two small stranded flatbacks (14- and 22-cm carapace lengths) contained both planktonic organisms (snails *Janthina*, siphonophores *Porpina*) and benthic organisms (corals, molluscs, bryozoans), all of which could have been consumed in inshore waters. ¹⁰⁰ Larger subadults and adults feed on jellyfish and on soft-bodied benthic invertebrates, such as sea pens and soft corals, in habitats with unconsolidated substrates. ^{100,101}

8.2.7 LEATHERBACK, DERMOCHELYS CORIACEA

The leatherback is believed to be the most pelagic of all sea turtles, spending much time in the open ocean.⁶⁹ However, leatherbacks will forage close to shore and over continental shelves^{102,103} and have been reported feeding in water of less than 4-m depth.¹⁰⁴ The distribution of foraging leatherbacks appears to be largely dependent upon the distribution of the jellyfish, salps, and other gelatinous organisms upon which they feed¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷ and which often accumulate near convergent zones or watermass boundaries.¹⁰⁸ Leatherbacks feed throughout the water column, from the surface^{109,110} to great depths. A leatherback fed on octopus used for fish bait at a depth of 50 m in western Australia.¹¹¹ The presence of a deep-water siphonophore (*Apolemia uvaria*) in the stomach of a Mediterranean leatherback suggests leatherbacks may feed at great depths; however, this siphonophore may be carried to the surface by upwelling water.⁷⁶ Internesting leatherbacks off St. Croix may feed on siphonophores, salps, and medusae within the deep scattering layer at night;¹¹² the mean nocturnal dive depths for six leatherbacks ranged from 31.8 to 83.9 m.

Because leatherbacks apparently inhabit the pelagic zone throughout their lives and because the ability to capture and consume the gelatinous prey species is not size dependent, there would seem to be no reason for a diet shift between size classes, as is apparently the case in other sea turtle species. A 15.6-cm leatherback captured 200 to 250 nautical miles southwest of Acapulco, Mexico had jellyfish in its digestive tract.¹¹³

Bleakney¹¹⁴ and Brongersma¹¹⁵ established that the leatherback feeds primarily on scyphomedusae, pelagic tunicates, and their commensals, parasites and prey. The five leatherbacks examined by Bleakney¹¹⁴ had consumed the jellyfish Cyanea capillata arctica and its amphipod commensal Hyperia medusarum. Diet records since that time have all supported the theory that leatherbacks specialize on gelatinous organisms. The stomach of a leatherback captured near Malta contained three species of pelagic coelenterates: the siphonophore A. uvaria, an unidentified siphonophore, and an unidentified scyphozoan. 76 The gut contents of six leatherbacks from southern England and the North Sea contained almost entirely scyphozoan medusae of the species C. capillata, C. lamarckii, Rhizostoma octopus, Aurelia aurita, Pelagia noctiluca, and Chrysaora hysoscella; the leptomedusa Aequorea sp.; portions of the hydroid Obelia dichotoma; many amphipods (scyphozoan commensals) H. galba; and fragments of a fish, a crab, and algae. 116 Leatherbacks off the coast of France feed almost entirely on R. pulmo. 107 Libinia spinosa, a small crab that is a jellyfish commensal, was reported from a leatherback captured off the coast of Uruguay. 117 There are a number of records of leatherbacks feeding on Stomolophus meleagris off the Atlantic coast of the U.S. and in the Gulf of Mexico. 104 A leatherback was observed feeding on Aurelia sp. off the coast of Washington, U.S.¹¹⁰ Leatherbacks in Australia are reported to feed on the jellyfish Catostylus mosaicus. 118 Davenport and Balazs¹¹⁹ compiled records of leatherbacks consuming pyrosomas — pelagic colonies of tunicate zooids — from the Pacific and Mediterranean.

8.3 DIET SELECTION

The development and duration of diet preferences in sea turtles are not understood. Studies of early diet preferences in loggerhead hatchlings revealed that hatchlings do form preferences based on early feeding experience, but that these preferences are reversible. 120,121

The extent to which the diet of green turtles is determined by selective feeding or by the relative abundance of different diet species has been addressed in several studies. Green turtles in the Caribbean feed selectively by recropping plots of *Thalassia testudinum* that they have previously grazed.⁴² By grazing on the short leaves in the grazed plots rather than feeding randomly on *Thalassia* blades, they ingest a diet that is higher in nitrogen and lower in lignin, a plant constituent that is indigestible and lowers the digestibility of other structural carbohydrates in the plants.⁴²

Ferreira⁴⁵ attributed the high frequency of red algae in green turtle stomachs to the greater abundance of red algae in the feeding areas. Balazs¹⁹ suggested that both relative abundance and feeding selectivity determine the feeding habits of Hawaiian green turtles. Three small green turtles caught off Necker Island, Hawaii, feeding over dense stands of Asparagopsis sp., Caulerpa sp., Laurencia sp., Sargassum sp., and Turbinaria sp., had only Caulerpa in their stomachs, 122 suggesting they were selecting that alga. In a series of foraging areas in Hawaii, the relative abundance of available algae was quite different from the relative abundance of algae in stomachs of green turtles.34 Sazima and Sazima46 reported that green turtles visually scan the potential foraging area while slowly moving among algal patches. They suggest that this scanning behavior and the differences between the algae available and the algae consumed indicate that the turtles are feeding selectively. Ross²⁵ also attributed the differential abundance of algal species in the habitat and in the diet of green turtles in Oman to selective feeding. Garnett et al.²⁸ suggested that diet selection is based on relative availability of diet species, although some selectivity for soft red algae was detected in their study of stomach contents from 44 green turtles in Torres Strait, Australia. In a preliminary report for a very thorough study of diet selection in 518 green turtles that had ingested 69 species of algae near Heron Island, Australia. Forbes³⁰ concluded that green turtles did not ingest a diet based on relative abundances of the algae in the foraging habitat, but rather fed selectively.

Bjorndal^{3,42} hypothesized that microbial communities in the digestive tracts of green turtles may affect diet selection, as suggested by three lines of evidence. First, as reviewed by Mortimer,⁹ in many areas where both seagrasses and algae are present, green turtles feed on either algae or on seagrasses, not on a mixture. Second, in turtles (and dugongs) that feed primarily on seagrasses, algae appear undigested in the feces in contrast to the very digested appearance of the seagrass (references in Bjorndal).⁴² Conversely, in green turtles that feed primarily on algae, blades of *Thalassia* in the posterior colon appear undigested, again in contrast to the very digested appearance of algae surrounding them.¹⁷⁷ Third, structural carbohydrates in seagrasses are quite different from those in marine algae; structural carbohydrates

also vary considerably among algae. The microbial communities in the digestive tracts of green turtles feeding on seagrasses would differ from those in green turtles feeding on algae. Bjorndal³ suggested that these differences in microbial populations could affect diet selection because turtles with gut microbes adapted to algae would digest seagrasses less efficiently, and vice versa. Although gut microbial communities adapt to long-term diet shifts by varying the number and relative abundance of microbial species, ¹²³ turtles would digest food less efficiently if they made successive, short-term diet shifts. There is a parallel situation in Orkney sheep that feed on algae on North Ronaldsay Island and that are occasionally shifted to pastures of angiosperms. ¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶

Specificity of the gut microbial communities may be one component in the optimal foraging strategy of the green turtle, but it will not overwhelm all others. The extent of the restriction on diet selection in green turtles that Bjorndal³ hypothesized has been overemphasized by researchers working with sea turtles (e.g., Garnett et al.).²⁸ Green turtles, like all organisms, select a diet that will yield the most nutrition for the least investment in search and handling costs. When vast pastures of seagrass or algae are available, the optimal forage for green turtles may be that to which its gut microbes are adapted (either all seagrass or all algae). However, where food is limited or where food types are more dispersed, the greater search and handling costs of seeking either an all-algae or all-seagrass diet may be greater than the energy gain from more efficient digestion. In this case, the turtle would ingest a mixed diet.

Animals consistently ingesting a mixed diet would almost certainly develop a microbial community capable of degrading the various complex carbohydrates. In some areas of Australia, green turtles ingest both seagrasses and algae and, in the feces, both components have the appearance of being equally digested.¹⁷⁸ However, the microbial populations in these turtles would have to adapt continually to any changes in the proportions of seagrass to algae and in the proportions of the various algae. Even if green turtles ingesting a mixed diet have lower digestive efficiencies, their nutrient gain may well be maximized by the ability to ingest a greater quantity of the mixed diet more rapidly.

In an assessment of selective feeding in Kemp's ridleys, ¹²⁷ relative abundance of four species of crabs (two swimming crabs [Ovalipes ocellatus and Callinectes sapidus] and two walking crabs [Libinia emarginata and Cancer irroratus]) in the foraging areas of Kemp's ridleys in New York waters were compared with the abundance of those crabs in the digestive tracts of Kemp's ridleys. The turtles ingested more walking crabs and fewer swimming crabs than would be expected from the abundance of the crabs in the environment, indicating that the small ridleys in New York waters feed on slower-moving prey perhaps because the turtles have just moved out of the pelagic habitat and are inexperienced foragers in benthic habitats. By the time these turtles have moved south into Chesapeake Bay, Virginia they are more adept predators and are better able to capture the swimming crab Callinectes sapidus, which is their primary prey species in that region. ^{60,128}

8.4 ROLE OF SEA TURTLES IN STRUCTURING FORAGING HABITAT COMMUNITIES

Sea turtles can have major effects on nutrient cycling and community structure in their foraging habitats. Under natural conditions, the high population densities that sea turtles can attain make them major predators and grazers in their ecosystems. Seagrass ecosystems, found in relatively shallow waters worldwide, are among the most productive in the world. 129 Grazing by green turtles has significant effects on the structure and nutrient cycling in these systems. Green turtles establish and maintain grazing plots in pastures of the seagrass T. testudinum by continually recropping areas that they have earlier grazed and thus ingest a diet higher in protein and lower in lignin.⁴² These plots vary in size from 10 to 100 m² and can be maintained for over two years. 130 Green turtles increase the speed of nutrient recycling in Thalassia beds by shortening the time required for normal decomposition of Thalassia blades, perhaps as much as from eight weeks to a few days. 4 Thalassia blades that are consumed by green turtles and deposited in feces have greatly reduced particle size and lower (= enriched) C to N ratio compared to blades that die and decompose in situ.⁴ Continual cropping by green turtles can also stress Thalassia plants, resulting in lower blade productivity and reduced leaf width, rhizome diameter, and leaf-shoot density. 131-133 The stress may be caused by reduced nutrient availability, which may result from decreased trapping of detritus within the seagrass bed by blades that have been grazed to a few centimeters in height.⁵ Thus, grazing by green turtles can have both positive and negative effects on seagrass nutrition. In addition to effects on nutrient cycling and plant morphology and productivity, grazing by green turtles can enhance invasion by early successional species and change faunal densities and predator-prey relationships. 5 Although never quantified, grazing on algae by green turtles on coral reefs must have significant effects on percent cover by algae in these ecosystems.

By preying upon sponges in coral reef habitats, hawksbills may affect diversity, biomass, and succession in complex reef communities.⁶⁷ Sponges are major contributors to reef biomass and compete with other reef organisms for space. Predation by hawksbills, at natural population densities, could be a significant factor in this competition. On a submerged reef in Puerto Rico, the haplosclerid sponge *Niphates digitalis* was the species most commonly grazed by hawksbills of 26 sponge species found in the area. Between 67 and 86% (n = 26) of all specimens of *N. digitalis* had been grazed by hawksbills.⁷³ Hawksbills also make sponge tissue accessible to other predators by biting through the tough outer covering of sponges, exposing the soft inner sponge tissues to fish.⁶⁷

Loggerheads, as major predators on invertebrates, may affect community structure in benthic habitats. Predation by loggerheads may be a major mortality factor for saucer scallops (*Amusium japonicum balloti*) around Bundaberg, Australia¹³⁴ and for large juvenile and adult queen conch (*Strombus gigas*) in the Bahamas.¹³⁵

Studies are needed to explore the extent of competition among species of sea turtles and between sea turtles and other species. In general, the different food habits and foraging habitats of sea turtle species minimize competition for food resources among sea turtles, ^{136,137} but food resources are shared in some areas. Considerable

diet overlap was reported for juvenile Kemp's ridleys and loggerheads in the waters around Long Island, New York,⁶³ whereas larger size classes of the two species were reported to exhibit habitat and diet partitioning in Virginia waters.⁶⁰ In one of the few studies of diet overlap between sea turtles and other species, Sazima and Sazima⁴⁶ report that large herbivorous fishes (*Acanthurus*, *Kyphosus*, *Sparisoma*) select different algae species than do green turtles in the same area, thus avoiding competition.

All sea turtles serve as nutrient exporters from their foraging habitats. Some species export nutrients on a daily basis by moving out of foraging areas to resting habitats and defecating there. All species export nutrients on an annual basis when mature individuals leave foraging habitats to migrate to nesting beaches where they deposit substantial nutrient packets — in the form of eggs — that have been produced from nutrients gleaned and stored on the foraging grounds.

8.5 DIGESTIVE PROCESSING AND NUTRITION

Only a few studies of nutrition and digestion in sea turtles have been undertaken. Most studies have been conducted on the herbivorous green turtle; these studies have limited application to the other, carnivorous, species of sea turtles. A knowledge of quantitative nutrient requirements would help us understand how nutrition regulates productivity, but there have been few such studies. Requirements for seven amino acids have been determined for hatchling green turtles, ^{138,139} and a requirement for vitamin A in hatchling green turtles has been suggested. ¹⁴⁰

8.5.1 INTAKE

Intake — or the rate of food ingestion — has been measured in free-ranging green turtles feeding on the seagrass *T. testudinum* in the Greater Caribbean in two studies. ^{42,141} Two different approaches were used to estimate intake: Bjorndal⁴² used total daily feces production and percentages of an indigestible marker in feces and in *Thalassia*, and Williams¹⁴¹ used estimates of mean dive time, mean number of bites taken per dive, amount of leaf shoot removed per bite, and mean number of hours spent feeding per day. The two techniques yielded similar values for intake (Table 8.1).

Most physiological rates in poikilotherms are affected by temperature, and both intake and passage rate in herbivorous reptiles are positively related to temperature. Intake of trout pellets in post-hatchling green turtles increased significantly between 18 and 33°C: Q_{10} 18 to 23°C = 9.64, Q_{10} 23 to 28°C = 2.82, and Q_{10} 28 to 33°C = 1.97. In 143

Diet quality also has a substantial effect on intake. Green turtles of similar size feeding on a high-quality pelleted diet¹⁴⁴ had intakes three to four times greater than those for a diet of *Thalassia* (Table 8.1). These differences can have significant effects on nutrient gain. Combining these intake levels with the higher nitrogen content of the pelleted diet and the greater digestibility of nitrogen (see Tables 8.2 and 8.3), green turtles on the pelleted diet consume at least 12 times more nitrogen on a daily basis than do green turtles feeding on *Thalassia*.

TABLE 8.1
Intakes (g dry mass day-1 turtle-1) of Green
Turtles Feeding on Thalassia testudinum
Turtle size mean

(range) (kg)	Intake	Ref.
8 (7–9)	24	42
30 (28–32)	82	42
48 (46–50)	177	42
66 (64–68)	218	42
26 (4-60)	127	141

In the western Atlantic, green turtles typically have two feeding bouts each day — one in the morning and one in the afternoon. 42,47,130 However, in an area of reduced food availability, Williams ¹⁴¹ found that green turtles fed continually over seagrass beds during the nine h of daylight. In Hawaii, green turtles often feed at night; the tidal cycle is more important in determining foraging times than is the diurnal cycle. 19,34

The low nutritive value of jellyfish, as it pertains to the nutrition of leatherbacks, has been repeatedly pointed out.^{114,116} The nutritive value of pyrosomas (gelatinous tunicates) is apparently similar to that of jellyfish.¹¹⁹ Large numbers of these gelatinous organisms would have to be consumed to meet nutritional needs of a 900-kg organism that is capable of maintaining body temperatures well above ambient.^{109,145} Duron¹⁴⁶ estimated that an adult leatherback would eat about 50 large *R. pulmo* each day (equivalent to approximately 200 l). A leatherback was seen to ingest 50 to 80 *Stomolophus meleagris* during a feeding session of unstated length off Myrtle Beach, South Carolina.¹⁰⁴ The commensals that are ingested with the gelatinous organisms or prey contained in their stomachs may be an important source of nutrition.¹¹⁹

Six olive ridley hatchlings fed *ad libitum* on clam (*Meretrix casta*) tissue had daily mean intake of 16.4 mg (SD 1.6 mg) dry mass per gram live body mass.¹⁴⁷ This dry mass intake was equivalent to a daily intake of 74.5 calories and 8.9 mg of protein per gram live body mass.

8.5.2 DIGESTION

The extent to which food is digested — or digestibility — has been measured for a number of diet components in wild green turtles feeding on natural diets of T. $testudinum^{4,42,148}$ and the sponge $Chondrilla\ nucula^{149}$ and for artificial diets in captivity 144,150,151 (Table 8.2). The values for digestibilities from the study by Bjorndal 42 in Table 8.2 represent means of values measured in 12 consecutive months in the southern Bahamas. There was no seasonal effect on nutrient composition of Thalassia (Table 8.3) or on digestibility of Thalassia. Among the four size classes of green turtles, body size had a significant effect on digestion of organic matter, energy, hemicellulose, and nitrogen, but not on digestion of cellulose.

TABLE 8.2
Digestibilities Measured in Green Turtles on Several Diets: Seagrass (*Thalassia testudinum*), the Sponge (*Chondrilla nucula*), and Pelleted Diets

Dicts		Digestibility	Turtle size	No. of	
Constituent	Diet	(%)	(kg)	turtles	Ref.
Dry matter	Sponge	49	8	3	149
		53	48	3	149
		51	66	3	149
	Pellet A	83-84	4–6	15	144
		84–86	22-25	13	144
Organic matter	Seagrass	45	8	3	42
		58	30	3	42
		67	48	3	42
		65	66	3	42
		77	50	1	148
		65	82	1	148
	Sponge	41	8	3	149
		46	48	3	149
		44	66	3	149
Energy	Seagrass	34	8	3	42
		50	30	3	42
		62	48	3	42
		58	66	3	42
		69	50	1	148
		64	82	1	148
	Sponge	40	8	3	149
		43	48	3	149
		43	66	3	149
	Pellet B	75	0.5-0.7	2	150
	Pellet C	73	0.6-0.9	4	150
Carbon	Seagrass	75	50	1	4
		63	82	1	4
Cellulose	Seagrass	85	8	3	42
		85	30	3	42
		89	48	3	42
		86	66	3	42
		94	50	1	148
		77	82	1	148
Hemicellulose	Seagrass	53	8	3	42
		62	30	3	42
		70	48	3	42
		75	66	3	42
		94	50	1	148
		78	82	1	148
Total nitrogen	Seagrass	15	8	3	42

TABLE 8.2 (continued)
Digestibilities Measured in Green Turtles on Several Diets: Seagrass (*Thalassia testudinum*), the Sponge (*Chondrilla nucula*), and Pelleted Diets

Constituent	Diet	Digestibility (%)	Turtle size (kg)	No. of turtles	Ref.
		39	30	3	42
		45	48	3	42
		54	66	3	42
	Sponge	52	8	3	149
		55	48	3	149
		53	66	3	149
	Pellet A	82-88	4–6	15	144
		86–89	22-25	13	144
	Pellet B	84	0.5-0.7	2	150
	Pellet C	82	0.6-0.9	4	150
Organic nitrogen	Seagrass	44	50	1	4
		25	82	1	4

Experimental turtles in Bjorndal⁴² were the same as those in Bjorndal; ¹⁴⁹ turtles in Bjorndal¹⁴⁸ were the same as those in Thayer et al.⁴

TABLE 8.3
Composition of Diets for which Digestibilities Are Presented in Table 8.2

Diet	ОМ	Energy	Cellulose	HC	Lignin	Nitrogen	Si	Ref.
Seagrass	74	14	33	7	3.4	2.7	_	42
Sponge	68	16	0	0	0	8.1	1.8	149
Pellet A	_	_		_	-	5.6-7.8	_	144
Pellet B	_	_	_	_	_	7.0	-	150
Pellet C	_		_	_	_	8.2		150

All constituents are expressed as percent of dry matter except energy is kJ/g dry matter. OM is organic matter; HC is hemicellulose; Si is silica.

The low nitrogen digestibility values for green turtles feeding on *Thalassia* may result from a shift of protein digestion from the small intestine to the large intestine, where absorption of end products is much less efficient.³ The extent to which cell contents (including protein) are accessible to digestive enzymes in the small intestine — before cell walls have been degraded — is not clear.^{152,153} The low nitrogen digestibilities may be responsible for the low growth rates of sea turtles feeding on *Thalassia*.²

Herbivorous reptiles rely on a microbial fermentation in the large intestine to degrade plant cell walls;¹⁴² the only exception identified to date is the presence of a fermentation in the small intestine of the freshwater turtle *Pseudemys nelsoni*.¹⁵⁴ These fermentations generate end products that are critical to the nutrient balance of the host reptiles. The primary end products are volatile fatty acids (VFA), an important energy source in herbivorous reptiles,¹⁴² that supplied up to 100% of the digestible energy intake in *P. nelsoni* on a foliage diet.¹⁵⁴

Green turtles harbor a microbial fermentation in their capacious large intestine. ^{148,155} The cell walls (cellulose, hemicellulose) of *Thalassia* are digested to a great extent in this fermentation (Table 8.2). The VFA and lactate produced in the cecum of a green turtle feeding on *Thalassia* provided about 15% of its estimated daily energy budget. ¹⁴⁸ However, the total energy contribution of the fermentation is much greater than 15% because the microbial fermentation continues throughout the large intestine, which has a much greater volume than the cecum.

The site of fermentation and relative concentrations of VFA along the gut were similar between green turtles feeding on *Thalassia* and those feeding on an algae diet, but the relative amounts of individual VFAs in the region of active fermentation were different.¹⁵⁵ In green turtles feeding on an algae diet, the relative proportions were acetate > propionate > butyrate > valerate; for *Thalassia*-feeding green turtles, the proportions were acetate > butyrate > propionate. This difference may result from differences in substrate composition and/or differences in species composition of the bacterial or protozoal communities.

Although sponges are a primary food source for hawksbills and a minor food source for loggerheads and green turtles, the only measure of digestibility of sponges has been for the chicken-liver sponge, C. nucula, in the green turtle. 149 C. nucula, perhaps because of its low concentration of silica spicules, 66,149 is one of the primary species ingested by hawksbills⁶⁷ and is also consumed by loggerheads⁴⁴ and green turtles. 42 In the study, green turtles were feeding primarily on the seagrass T. testudinum, but also ingesting sponges. The digestibilities of C. nucula (Table 8.2) were low relative to values in reptiles feeding on animal tissue which typically exceed 80%. 156 These low digestibility values may result from the high concentration of collagen fibrils in C. nucula, which have an unknown, but possibly low, digestibility. 157,158 The low digestibilities may also be a result of a negative associative effect between the ingested Thalassia and the sponges. Associative effects are any interaction among diet items that cause a diet component to be digested to a different extent than it would have been if the component had been ingested alone. A positive associative effect between duckweed and insect larvae in the turtle Trachemys scripta has been described. 159 The much greater bulk of Thalassia in the digestive tract may have blocked sponges from contact with proteolytic enzymes. To test for an associative effect, digestibilities for the sponge would have to be measured in green turtles feeding only on C. nucula and compared with digestibilities for sponges in the mixed diet.

Green turtles attain much higher digestibilities when feeding on pelleted diets in captivity (Table 8.2). These higher digestibilities result from three primary factors.

First, the pelleted diets have higher concentrations of very digestible nutrients (nitrogen, soluble carbohydrates) and lower concentrations of less digestible constituents (structural carbohydrates) than do seagrasses and algae. Second, because of these shifts in nutrient concentrations, the pelleted diets are digested to a greater extent by endogenous enzymes in the small intestine, whereas algae and seagrasses are digested to a greater extent by microorganisms in the large intestine. 3.155 Digestion in the small intestine results in more efficient and complete nutrient absorption. Third, particle size of the pelleted diets is very fine, compared with the large particle size that is ingested by green turtles feeding on seagrasses and algae. Because turtles cannot chew their food, particle size of ingested seagrass and algae are typically several centimeters square. 177 Particle size of digesta has a significant negative effect on rates of fermentation and digestion in herbivorous reptiles and mammals. 152,153,160

8.5.3 Passage of Digesta

Passage rates of digesta through the digestive tract are affected by feeding rate¹⁶¹ and temperature.¹⁶² In captive-raised loggerheads of 1- to 2-kg body mass on a diet of trout pellets, total gut clearance time decreased with increasing temperature between 20 and 30°C ($Q_{10} = 1.6$). The effect was greater between 20 and 25°C than between 25 and 30°C.¹⁶²

Digesta apparently passes through the different sections of the gut at different rates. In post-hatchling green turtles (30 to 150 g) fed a diet of trout pellets mixed with barium, most of the transit time was spent in the esophagus, stomach, and small intestine; in yearling green turtles (0.5 to 1 kg), the same diet was retained for the longest period in the large intestine. ¹⁴³ In yearlings, the digesta in the hindgut moved to and fro, mixing digesta from different meals. ¹⁴³ This mixing is probably the result of antiperistalsis — peristaltic movements that originate near the coprodeum and move along the large intestine toward the ileocolic valve. Antiperistalsis can have significant ramifications for reptile nutrition by delaying movement of digesta in the large intestine to allow for more complete fermentation and absorption and by moving urinary nitrogen from the cloaca to the proximal hindgut where it provides an important source of nitrogen. ¹⁴² Such mixing of digesta also challenges current models of digestive processing in reptiles (e.g., Meienberger et al.) ¹⁶³ that assume that movement of digesta in reptiles is similar to that in a plug-flow reactor. ¹⁶⁴

8.6 ANTHROPOGENIC EFFECTS ON FORAGING ECOLOGY AND NUTRITION

8.6.1 MARINE DEBRIS

Balazs¹⁶⁵ provided a thorough review of accounts of marine debris ingestion by sea turtles and documented the seriousness of this problem. Carr¹⁶⁶ then focused attention on the threat to young pelagic-stage sea turtles that inhabit convergence zones in which floating debris is also concentrated. Since these publications appeared, a number of studies have reported high incidence of debris ingestion in sea turtles

(references in Bjorndal et al.).¹⁶⁷ In particular, the concerns that were raised by Carr¹⁶⁶ about small, pelagic turtles have been confirmed. For example, in 50 post-hatchling loggerheads captured off the coast of Florida, plastics and synthetic fibers were found in 32% of the turtles, tar was flushed from the stomachs of 35% of the turtles, and over 50% of the turtles had tar on their jaws.⁵⁵

The amount of debris ingested is usually small,^{64,86} but it is important to put these apparently small percentages in perspective. In a study of 43 green turtles that stranded dead in Florida, 24 turtles had ingested debris.¹⁶⁷ Ingestion of debris was clearly responsible for the death of at least two turtles, by obstructing the gut. In mass and volume, the debris in the two turtles were 2.2 and 6.5 g and 3.0 and 4.5 ml, respectively. These values fall within the ranges of mass (0.01 to 7.0 g) and volume (0.01 to 5.0 ml) of debris found in the other 22 turtles in which the debris appeared to be passing harmlessly through the gut. Two conclusions can be drawn from these values. First, small amounts of debris can kill a sea turtle, and, second, the predictability of such mortality may well be low. A given piece of debris could pass through the gut of a turtle many times without becoming lodged in the gut, but during one transit, the debris could become oriented in such a way as to block the gut and result in the death of the animal.

Studies of debris ingestion need to move beyond documenting occurrence and begin to assess effects on populations — both mortality and sublethal effects. Mortality resulting from ingestion of debris is extremely difficulty to estimate. Sublethal effects are even more difficult to estimate, are probably more common, and may well be more deleterious to sea turtle populations than direct mortality by decreasing the productivity (growth and reproduction) of sea turtles.

Mechanisms for sublethal effects include absorption of toxins from the debris, mechanical abrasion or blockage of absorptive surfaces in the digestive tract, and displacement of nutritious food with debris so that nutrient gain is decreased (= nutrient dilution). Absorption of petroleum hydrocarbons was evaluated in sea turtles found dead following a major oil spill in Texas. ¹⁶⁹ The potential problems of absorption of plasticizers in sea turtles have been discussed. ¹⁷⁰ Small pieces of latex and plastic sheeting can be retained in the digestive tract of sea turtles for up to four months, and the latex appeared to have deteriorated during that time. ¹⁷¹ Effects on gut function as a result of plastic and latex ingestion include decline in blood glucose levels, indicating possible interference with absorption of nutrients or metabolism, ¹⁷¹ interference in gut lipid metabolism, and gas accumulation in the large intestine, resulting in loss of buoyancy control. ¹⁷² Effect of nutrient dilution on intake is being evaluated in loggerhead hatchlings. ¹⁷⁹

8.6.2 COMMERCIAL FISHERIES

Commercial fisheries have been recognized for many years as a serious source of sea turtle mortality as a result of incidental capture. Degradation of foraging habitat as a result of fishing activities has received less attention. Destructive fishing practices include the use of dynamite or bleach in coral reef areas and the use of bottom trawls in benthic communities. Most of the trawlable shelves of the world are impacted by trawling, which results in massive changes in community structure. 173

Habitat degradation resulting from these practices decreases the quantity and quality of foraging habitats for sea turtles.

A concern that has not yet been addressed is that of direct competition for food between humans and sea turtles. Recent estimates¹⁷³ indicate that commercial fisheries in continental shelf systems have a high primary productivity requirement of 24 to 35%, which may not be sustainable and may threaten the biodiversity of these systems. In addition, a higher primary productivity requirement would starve top predators such as marine mammals and birds.¹⁷³ As commercial fisheries become increasingly efficient, and as more commercial species of fish and invertebrates approach commercial — if not biological — extinction, sea turtles that feed on these commercial species may suffer reduced feeding rates because of limited food resources. Those sea turtle species that do not feed on commercial species may find that availability of their dietary species have been negatively affected through bycatch in commercial fisheries or as a result of the disruption in marine food webs caused by the dramatic population/species shifts and habitat degradation resulting from commercial fisheries. The low primary production requirement of ectothermic sea turtles relative to endotherms may provide some protection from competition with humans.

The sublethal effects of food limitation resulting from such competition will be difficult to discern, but may reduce significantly the productivity of sea turtle populations by lowering growth rates, delaying onset of sexual maturity, and reducing reproductive output. To monitor these sublethal effects, baseline data on rates of growth and intakes on natural diets are needed for many populations of each sea turtle species. These populations should represent a broad geographic range and all habitat types within each species. Only with this information can the amount of food resources necessary to sustain populations of sea turtles be determined.

If a population limited by food availability was released from that food limitation, it has been suggested that compensatory gain may act to increase productivity and hence population recovery. 174 Compensatory gain is realized when an organism that has had poor nutrition — often as a result of limited intake or poor quality food — is provided better nutrition. For a period of time, the previously undernourished individual will have a lower feed-to-gain ratio than an individual that has been maintained on the better diet throughout its life. Compensatory gain is well known in mammals, but has not been studied in reptiles.

8.6.3 Degradation of Foraging Habitats

In addition to degradation of foraging habitats by commercial fisheries, other human activities degrade sea turtle foraging habitats. Scars in seagrass beds from anchors or propellers can seriously reduce the standing crop and productivity of seagrasses. Anchoring by 15 to 50 boats each night in two bays in St. John, U.S. Virgin Islands caused the loss of 6.5 m² of seagrass (*Thalassia*) pastures each day.¹⁴¹ Recovery of the seagrasses within the anchor scars was slow; after 7 months there was little regrowth of seagrasses in the scars.¹⁴¹

Deposition of silt on coral reefs, rocky bottom habitats, and seagrass beds — most commonly as a result of inappropriate land management practices — decreases the amount of foraging habitat available to sea turtles. Oil spills are a constant threat to sea turtle foraging habitats. The Kemp's ridley is particularly vulnerable because the two major feeding areas of adult ridleys are in areas of intense development for offshore oil production in the Gulf of Mexico.¹⁷⁵

In a different twist, construction of offshore oil platforms, particularly in the Gulf of Mexico, creates hard-bottom communities that are favored by foraging loggerheads. These structures — which currently number approximately 3800 and provide the equivalent of about 5000 km² of hard bottom, increasing the amount of that habitat in the Gulf of Mexico by 27% — may remain in place for decades and acquire a complex community of invertebrates. When the oil platforms are removed (currently at a rate of about 100 per year), as required by law, most are removed with explosives that destroy the habitat and can kill turtles in the area. 168,176

8.7 CONCLUSIONS

Much research is needed to elucidate the relationships between the foraging ecology of sea turtles and their role in marine ecosystems and between the nutrition of sea turtles and their productivity. Surprising gaps remain in our knowledge of feeding habits. Some of these gaps can be generalized to ocean basins, species, and life stages. There is a paucity of data for all species from the Indian Ocean, for the early life stages of all species, and, among species, the diet of the flatback and the olive ridley are the least known.

The study of nutrition in sea turtles is in its infancy. Studies are needed on all aspects of intake, digestion, and passage of digesta and on quantitative nutritional requirements. To the extent possible, these studies should involve natural diets and turtles that have not been raised in captivity.

Although understanding diet selection is critical for assessing habitat quality — an undertaking that is ever more critical as wildlife managers are expected to make difficult decisions on which habitats to protect and which to abandon — such studies are still rare. Quantitative studies are needed that address diet selectivity in sea turtles by relating relative abundance of potential food items in the environment to the food items that are ingested.

We have failed to evaluate adequately the role of sea turtles in their ecosystems. Such studies are essential not only to improve our understanding of how marine ecosystems function, but also to assess what is lost at the ecosystem level when sea turtle populations become severely reduced or extinct.

Finally, the negative effects of human activities on the foraging habitats of sea turtles and their diet quality and availability must be quantified and controlled. Such quantification will be difficult because many of the negative effects are sublethal or are indirect results of changes in the delicate balance of marine ecosystems, and thus difficult to trace.

8.8 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am grateful to Alan Bolten for sharing his insights that have contributed to the ideas expressed in this chapter and for his constructive comments on the manuscript. I thank Peter Eliazar for his help with the references in this chapter. The on-line sea turtle bibliography maintained by the Archie Carr Center for Sea Turtle Research, University of Florida, facilitated the literature review for this chapter.

REFERENCES

- Balazs, G. H., Growth rates of immature green turtles in the Hawaiian Archipelago, in *Biology and Conservation of Sea Turtles*, Bjorndal, K. A., Ed., Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1982, 117.
- Bjorndal, K. A., The consequences of herbivory for the life history pattern of the Caribbean green turtle, in *Biology and Conservation of Sea Turtles*, Bjorndal, K. A., Ed., Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1982, 111.
- 3. Bjorndal, K. A., Nutritional ecology of sea turtles, Copeia, 1985, 736, 1985.
- 4. Thayer, G. W., Engel, D. W., and Bjorndal, K. A., Evidence for short-circuiting of the detritus cycle of seagrass beds by the green turtle, *Chelonia mydas L., J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.*, 62, 173, 1982.
- 5. Thayer, G. W., Bjorndal, K. A., Ogden, J. C., Williams, S. L., and Zieman, J. C., Role of larger herbivores in seagrass communities, *Estuaries*, 7, 351, 1984.
- 6. Limpus, C. J. and Nicholls, N., The southern oscillation regulates the annual numbers of green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) breeding around northern Australia, *Aust. J. Wildl. Res.*, 15, 157, 1988.
- Limpus, C. J. and Nicholls, N., Progress report on the study of the interaction of the El Niño Southern Oscillation on annual *Chelonia mydas* numbers at the southern Great Barrier Reef rookeries, in Proceedings of the Australian Marine Turtle Conservation Workshop held at Sea World Nara Resort, Gold Coast, Queensland Department of Environment and Heritage, and Australian Nature Conservation Agency, Oueensland, Australia, 1994, 73.
- 8. Lanyon, J. M., Limpus, C. J., and Marsh, H., Dugongs and turtles: grazers in the seagrass system, in *Biology of Seagrasses*, Larkum, A. W. D., McComb, A. J., and Shepherd, S. A., Eds., Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1989, 610.
- 9. Mortimer, J. A., Feeding ecology of sea turtles, in *Biology and Conservation of Sea Turtles*, Bjorndal, K. A., Ed., Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1982, 103.
- Balazs, G. H., Field methods for sampling the dietary components of green turtles Chelonia mydas, Herpetol. Rev., 11, 5, 1980.
- 11. Forbes, G. A. and Limpus, C. J., A non-lethal method for retrieving stomach contents from sea turtles, *Wildl. Res.*, 20, 339, 1993.
- 12. Carr, A., New perspectives on the pelagic stage of sea turtle development, *Conserv. Biol.*, 1, 103, 1987.
- Walker, T. A., Post-hatchling dispersal of sea turtles, in Proceedings of the Australian Marine Turtle Conservation Workshop held at Sea World Nara Resort, Gold Coast, Queensland Department of Environment and Heritage, and Australian Nature Conservation Agency, Queensland, Australia, 1994, 79.

- 14. Frick, J., Orientation and behaviour of hatchling green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) in the sea, *Anim. Behav.*, 24, 849, 1976.
- 15. Hughes, G. R., The sea turtles of south-east Africa. II. The biology of the Tongaland loggerhead turtle Caretta caretta L. with comments on the leatherback turtle Dermochelys coriacea L. and the green turtle Chelonia mydas L. in the study region, Oceanogr. Res. Institute (Durban) Invest. Rep., No. 36, 1974.
- Bolten, A. B., and Bjorndal, K. A., Blood profiles for a wild population of green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) in the southern Bahamas: size-specific and sex-specific relationships, J. Wildl. Dis., 28, 407, 1992.
- 17. Nakamura, K., Carotenoids in serum of Pacific green turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, *Bull. Jp. Soc. Sci. Fish.*, 46, 909, 1980.
- 18. Bjorndal, K. A., and Bolten, A. B., Growth rates of immature green turtles, *Chelonia mydas*, on feeding grounds in the southern Bahamas, *Copeia*, 1988, 555, 1988.
- Balazs, G. H., Synopsis of biological data on the green turtle in the Hawaiian Islands, NOAA Tech. Memo. NOAA-TM-NMFS-SWFC-7, Honolulu, Hawaii, 1980.
- Limpus, C. J., Couper, P. J., and Read, M. A., The green turtle, Chelonia mydas, in Queensland: population structure in a warm temperate feeding area, Mem. Queensland Mus., 35, 139, 1994.
- 21. Mortimer, J. A., The feeding ecology of the West Caribbean green turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) in Nicaragua, *Biotropica*, 13, 49, 1981.
- 22. Agastheesapillai, A. and Thiagarajan, R., Biology of the green turtle *Chelonia mydas* (Linnaeus) in the Gulf of Mannar and Palk Bay, *J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. India*, 21, 45, 1979.
- Hirth, H. F. and Carr, A., The green turtle in the Gulf of Aden and the Seychelles Islands, Verh. K. Ned. Akad. Wet. Afd. Natuurk. Reeks, 58, 1, 1970.
- Hirth, H. F., Klikoff, L. G., and Harper, K. T., Sea grasses at Khor Umaira, People's Democratic Republic of Yemen with reference to their role in the diet of the green turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, *Fish. Bull.*, 71, 1093, 1973.
- 25. Ross, J. P., Biology of the green turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, on an Arabian feeding ground, *J. Herpetol.*, 19, 459, 1985.
- Frazier, J., Marine turtles in the Seychelles and adjacent territories, in *Biogeography* and Ecology of the Seychelles Islands, Stoddart, D. R., Ed., Dr. W. Junk Publishers, The Hague, Netherlands, 1984, 417.
- Frazier, J., Marine Turtles in the Comoro Archipelago, Verhandelingen der Koninklijke Nederlandse Akademie van Wetenschappen, Afd. Natuurkunde, Tweede Reeks, Deel 84, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1985.
- Garnett, S. T., Rice, I. R., and Scott, F. J., The diet of the green turtle, Chelonia mydas (L.), in Torres Strait, Aust. Wildl. Res., 12, 103, 1985.
- 29. Limpus, C. J. and Reed, P. C., Green sea turtles stranded by Cyclone Kathy on the south-western coast of the Gulf of Carpentaria, *Aust. Wildl. Res.*, 12, 523, 1985.
- Forbes, G. A., The diet of the green turtle in an algal-based coral reef community -Heron Island, Australia, in *Proc. 13th Annu. Symp. Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation*, Schroeder, B. A. and Witherington, B. E., Compilers, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-341, Miami, FL, 1994, 57.
- 31. Kurata, Y., Yoneyama, S., Tsutsumi, K., Kimura, J., and Hosokawa, S., Experiments to increase number of green turtles through the release of the young (VII. Aoumigame zoshoku horyu shiken), Ogasawara Fishery Center, Tokyo Metropolitan Government, Research Report 3:58, 1978.

- 32. Balazs, G. H., Sea turtles and their traditional usage in Tokelau, *Atoll Res. Bull.*, No. 279, 1, 1983.
- Balazs, G. H., Status and ecology of marine turtles at Johnson Atoll, Atoll Res. Bull., No. 285, 1, 1985.
- 34. Balazs, G. H., Forsyth, R. G., and Kam, A. K. H., Preliminary assessment of habitat utilization by Hawaiian green turtles in their resident foraging pastures, NOAA Tech. Memo. NOAA-TM-NMFS-SWFC-71, Honolulu, HI, 1987.
- 35. Balazs, G. H., Miya, R. K., and Finn, M. A., Aspects of green turtles in their feeding, resting, and cleaning areas off Waikiki Beach, in *Proc. 13th Annu. Symp. Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation*, Schroeder, B. A. and Witherington, B. E., Compilers, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-341, Miami, FL, 1994, 15.
- 36. Russell, D. J. and Balazs, G. H., Colonization by the alien marine alga *Hypnea musciformis* (Wulfen) J. Ag. (Rhodophyta: Gigartinales) in the Hawaiian Islands and its utilization by the green turtle, *Chelonia mydas* L., *Aquat. Bot.*, 47, 53, 1994.
- 37. Russell, D. J. and Balazs, G. H., Utilization of alien algal species by sea turtles in Hawaii, in Proc. Conference and Workshop on Nonindigenous Estuarine & Marine Organisms (NEMO), U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA, Washington, D.C., 1994, 93.
- Paredes, R. P., Introduccion al Estudio Biologico de Chelonia mydas agassizi en el Perfil de Pisco, Masters thesis, Universidad Nacional Federico Villareal, Lima, Peru, 1969.
- 39. Hays Brown, C. and Brown, W. M., Status of sea turtles in the southeastern Pacific: emphasis on Perú, in *Biology and Conservation of Sea Turtles*, Bjorndal, K. A., Ed., Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1982, 235.
- 40. Fritts, T. H., Pelagic feeding habits of turtles in the eastern Pacific, *Mar. Turtle Newsl.*, No. 17, 4, 1981.
- 41. Casas-Andreu, G. and Gómez-Aguirre, S., Contribución al conocimiento de los hábitos alimenticios de *Lepidochelys olivacea* y *Chelonia mydas agassizi* (Reptilia, Cheloniidae) en el Pacífico Mexicano, *Bolm Inst. Oceanogr. Sao Paulo*, 29, 87, 1980.
- 42. Bjorndal, K. A., Nutrition and grazing behavior of the green turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, *Mar. Biol.*, 56, 147, 1980.
- 43. Mortimer, J. A., Observations on the Feeding Ecology of the Green Turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, in the Western Caribbean, Thesis, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, 1976.
- 44. Acevedo, M., Gómez, O., and Berovides, V., Alimentación de tres especies de quelonios marinos en la plataforma suroccidental de Cuba, *Rev. Invest. Mar.*, 5, 29, 1984.
- 45. Ferreira, M. M., Sôbre a alimentação da aruanã, *Chelonia mydas* Linnaeus, ao longo da costa do Estado do Ceará, *Arq. Est. Biol. Mar. Univ. Fed. Ceará*, 8, 83, 1968.
- 46. Sazima, I. and Sazima, M., Aspectos de comportamento alimentar e dieta da tartaruga marinha, *Chelonia mydas*, no litoral norte paulista, *Bolm Inst. Oceanogr. Sao Paulo*, 32, 199, 1983.
- 47. Mendonça, M. T., Movements and feeding ecology of immature green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) in a Florida lagoon, *Copeia*, 1983, 1013, 1983.
- 48. Burke, V. J., Morreale, S. J., Logan, P., and Standora, E. A., Diet of green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) in the waters of Long Island, N.Y., in *Proc. 11th Annu. Workshop on Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation*, Salmon, M. and Wyneken, J., Compilers, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-302, Miami, Florida, 1991, 140.
- 49. Bolten, A. B. and Balazs, G. H., Biology of the early pelagic stage the "lost year", in *Biology and Conservation of Sea Turtles*, Rev. ed., Bjorndal, K. A., Ed., Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1995, 579.
- 50. Carr, A., Rips, FADS, and little loggerheads, BioScience, 36, 92, 1986.

- 51. Limpus, C. J., Fleay, A., and Guinea, M., Sea turtles in the Capricornia Section, Great Barrier Reef, in *The Capricornia Section of the Great Barrier Reef: Past, Present and Future*, Ward, W. T. and Saenger, P., Eds., Royal Society of Queensland and Australian Coral Reef Society, Brisbane, 1984, 61.
- 52. Fanning, K. A., Betzer, P. R., Byrne, R. H., Breland, J. A., and Jolley, R. R., Characteristic of a submarine geothermal spring on the West Florida Shelf, *Fl. Sci.*, 42 (Suppl.), 21, 1979.
- 53. Carr, A. and Meylan, A. B., Evidence of passive migration of green turtle hatchlings in sargassum, *Copeia*, 1980, 366, 1980.
- 54. Richardson, J. I. and McGillivary, P., Post-hatchling loggerhead turtles eat insects in *Sargassum* community, *Mar. Turtle Newsl.*, No. 55, 2, 1991.
- Witherington, B. E., Flotsam, jetsam, post-hatchling loggerheads, and the advecting surface smorgasbord, in Proc. 14th Annu. Symp. Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation, Bjorndal, K. A., Bolten, A. B., Johnson, D. A., and Eliazar, P. J., Compilers, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-351, Miami, Florida, 1994, 166.
- 56. Brongersma, L. D., European Atlantic turtles, Zool. Verh. (Leiden), No. 121, 1972.
- 57. Van Nierop, M. M. and den Hartog, J. C., A study on the gut contents of five juvenile loggerhead turtles, *Caretta caretta* (Linnaeus) (Reptilia, Cheloniidae), from the southeastern part of the North Atlantic Ocean, with emphasis on coelenterate identification, *Zool. Meded. Leiden*, 59, 35, 1984.
- Plotkin, P., Feeding ecology of the loggerhead sea turtle in the northwestern Gulf of Mexico, in *Proc. 9th Annu. Workshop on Sea Turtle Conservation and Biology*, Eckert, S. A., Eckert, K. L., and Richardson, T. H., Compilers, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFC-232, Miami, Florida, 1989, 139.
- 59. Dodd, C. K., Jr., Synopsis of the biological data on the loggerhead sea turtle Caretta caretta (Linnaeus 1758), U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv. Biol. Rep., 88(14), 1988.
- 60. Lutcavage, M. and Musick, J. A., Aspects of the biology of sea turtles in Virginia, *Copeia*, 1985, 449, 1985.
- 61. Limpus, C. J., Couper, P. J., and Read, M. A., The loggerhead turtle, *Caretta caretta*, in Queensland: population structure in a warm temperate feeding area, *Mem. Queensl. Mus.*, 37, 195, 1994.
- 62. Burke, V. J., Standora, E. A., and Morreale, S. J., Diet of juvenile Kemp's ridley and loggerhead sea turtles from Long Island, New York, *Copeia*, 1993, 1176, 1993.
- Burke, V. J., Morreale, S. J., and Rhodin, A. G. J., Lepidochelys kempii (Kemp's ridley sea turtle) and Caretta caretta (loggerhead sea turtle). Diet, Herpetol. Rev., 24, 31, 1993.
- 64. Plotkin, P. T., Wicksten, M. K., and Amos, A. F., Feeding ecology of the loggerhead sea turtle *Caretta caretta* in the northwestern Gulf of Mexico, *Mar. Biol.*, 115, 1, 1993.
- 65. Hornell, J., The turtle fisheries of the Seychelles Islands, His Majesty's Stationery Office, London, 1927.
- 66. Meylan, A. B., Feeding Ecology of the Hawksbill Turtle (*Eretmochelys imbricata*): Spongivory as a Feeding Niche in the Coral Reef Community, Dissertation, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, 1984.
- 67. Meylan, A., Spongivory in hawksbill turtles: a diet of glass, Science, 239, 393, 1988.
- 68. Limpus, C. J., The hawksbill turtle, *Eretmochelys imbricata*, in Queensland: population structure within a southern Great Barrier Reef feeding ground, *Wildl. Res.*, 19, 489, 1992.
- Pritchard, P. C. H. and Trebbau, P., The Turtles of Venezuela. Contributions to Herpetology, No. 2, Society for the Study of Amphibians and Reptiles, Oxford, Ohio, 1984.

- National Marine Fisheries Service and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Recovery plan for hawksbill turtles in the U.S. Caribbean Sea, Atlantic Ocean, and Gulf of Mexico, National Marine Fisheries Service, St. Petersburg, FL, 1993.
- Anderes Alvarez, B. L. and Uchida, I., Study of hawksbill turtle (*Eretmochelys imbricata*) stomach content in Cuban waters, in Study of the Hawksbill Turtle in Cuba (I), Ministry of Fishing Industry, Cuba, 1994, 27.
- 72. Diez, C. E. and van Dam, R., Foraging ecology of juvenile and subadult hawksbills (*Eretmochelys imbricata*), Preliminary Research Report, 1992.
- Vicente, V. P. and Carballeira, N. M., Studies on the feeding ecology of the hawksbill turtle, Eretmochelys imbricata, in Puerto Rico, in Proc. 11th Annu. Workshop on Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation, Salmon, M. and Wyneken, J., Compilers, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-302, Miami, FL, 1991, 117.
- Vicente, V. P., Spongivory in Caribbean hawksbill turtles, Eretmochelys imbricata: Data from stranded specimens, in Proc. 13th Annu. Symp. Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation, Schroeder, B. A. and Witherington, B. E., Compilers, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-341, Miami, FL, 1994, 185.
- 75. Carr, A. and Stancyk, S., Observations on the ecology and survival outlook of the hawksbill turtle, *Biol. Conserv.*, 8, 161, 1975.
- 76. Den Hartog, J. C., Notes on the food of sea turtles: *Eretmochelys imbricata* (Linnaeus) and *Dermochelys coriacea* (Linnaeus), *Neth. J. Zool.*, 30, 595, 1980.
- 77. Carr, A., Handbook of Turtles, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY, 1952.
- Deraniyagala, P. E. P., A Colored Atlas of Some Vertebrates from Ceylon. Vol. II, Tetrapod Reptilia, Ceylon National Museums Publication, The Ceylon Government Press, Colombo, Ceylon, 1953.
- 79. Alcala, A. C., Observations on the ecology of the Pacific hawksbill turtle in the central Visayas, Philippines, Fish. Res. J. Philipp., 5, 42, 1980.
- 80. Witzell, W. N., Synopsis of biological data on the hawksbill turtle *Eretmochelys imbricata* (Linnaeus, 1766), FAO Fish. Synop., No. 137, 1983.
- 81. Ross, J. P., Hawksbill turtle *Eretmochelys imbricata* in the Sultanate of Oman, *Biol. Conserv.*, 19, 99, 1981.
- 82. Balazs, G. H., A hawksbill in Kaneohe Bay, Oahu, 'Elepaio, 38, 128, 1978.
- 83. Bjorndal, K. A., Carr, A., Meylan, A. B., and Mortimer, J. A., Reproductive biology of the hawksbill *Eretmochelys imbricata* at Tortuguero, Costa Rica, with notes on the ecology of the species in the Caribbean, *Biol. Conserv.*, 34, 353, 1985.
- 84. Ogren, L. H., Distribution of juvenile and subadult Kemp's ridley turtles: Preliminary results from the 1984-1987 surveys, in *Proc. 1st Int. Symp. Kemp's Ridley Sea Turtle Biology, Conservation and Management*, Caillouet, C. W., Jr. and Landry, A. M., Jr., Eds., Sea Grant College Program, Galveston, TX, 1989, 116.
- 85. Márquez-M., R., Synopsis of biological data on the Kemp's ridley turtle, *Lepidochelys kempi* (Garman, 1880), NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-343, Miami, FL, 1994.
- 86. Shaver, D. J., Feeding ecology of wild and head-started Kemp's ridley sea turtles in south Texas waters, *J. Herpetol.*, 25, 327, 1991.
- 87. Burke, V. J., Morreale, S. J., and Standora, E. A., Diet of the Kemp's ridley sea turtle, *Lepidochelys kempii*, in New York waters, *Fish. Bull.*, 92, 26, 1994.
- 88. Hughes, G. R., The sea turtles of south-east Africa. I. Status, morphology and distributions, *Oceanogr. Res. Inst. Invest. Rep.*, No. 35, 1974.
- 89. Pitman, R. L., Seabird associations with marine turtles in the eastern Pacific Ocean, *Colon. Waterbirds*, 16, 194, 1993.

- Plotkin, P. T., Byles, R. A., and Owens, D. W., Migratory and reproductive behavior of Lepidochelys olivacea in the eastern Pacific Ocean, in Proc. 13th Annu. Symp. Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation, Schroeder, B. A. and Witherington, B. E., Compilers, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-341, Miami, FL, 1994, 138.
- 91. Márquez-M., R., Villanueva O., A., and Peñaflores S., C., Sinopsis de datos biológicos sobre la tortuga golfina, *Lepidochelys olivacea* (Eschscholtz, 1829), INP Sinopsis Sobre la Pesca No. 2, 1976.
- 92. Montenegro Silva, B. C., Bernal Gonzalez, N. G., and Martínez Guerrero, A., Estudio del contenido estomacal de la tortuga marina *Lepidochelys olivacea*, en la costa de Oaxaca, México, *An. Inst. Cienc. Mar Limnol. Univ. Nal. Autón. México*, 13, 121, 1986.
- 93. Fritts, T. H., Marine turtles of the Galápagos Islands and adjacent areas of the eastern Pacific on the basis of observations made by J. R. Slevin 1905–1906, *J. Herpetol.*, 15, 293, 1981.
- 94. Limpus, C. J. and Roper, P. A., On the Victorian coast a Pacific ridley sea-turtle *Lepidochelys olivaceae* (Eschscholtz), *Victorian Nat.*, 94, 54, 1977.
- 95. Biswas, S., A report on the olive ridley, *Lepidochelys olivacea* (Eschscholtz) [Testudines:Cheloniidae] of Bay of Bengal, *Rec. Zool. Surv. India*, 79, 275, 1982.
- 96. Caldwell, D. K., Rathjen, W. F., and Hsu, B. C. C., Surinam ridleys at sea, *Int. Turtle Tortoise Soc. J.*, 3, 4, 1969.
- 97. Walker, T. A. and Parmenter, C. J., Absence of a pelagic phase in the life cycle of the flatback turtle, *Natator depressus* (Garman), *J. Biogeogr.*, 17, 275, 1990.
- 98. Walker, T. A., Juvenile flatback turtles in proximity to coastal nesting islands in the Great Barrier Reef Province, *J. Herpetol.*, 25, 246, 1991.
- Limpus, C. J., Parmenter, C. J., Baker, V., and Fleay, A., The flatback turtle, Chelonia depressa, in Queensland: post-nesting migration and feeding ground distribution, Aust. Wildl. Res., 10, 557, 1983.
- Zangerl, R., Hendrickson, L. P., and Hendrickson, J. R., A redescription of the Australian flatback sea turtle, *Natator depressus*, *Bishop Museum Bulletin in Zoology* I, Bishop Museum Press, Honolulu, 1988.
- Limpus, C. J., Gyuris, E., and Miller, J. D., Reassessment of the taxonomic status of the sea turtle genus *Natator McCulloch*, 1908, with a redescription of the genus and species, *Trans. R. Soc. South Aust.*, 112, 1, 1988.
- 102. Lee, D. S. and Palmer, W. M., Records of leatherback turtles, *Dermochelys coriacea* (Linnaeus), and other marine turtles in North Carolina waters, *Brimleyana*, 5, 95, 1981.
- Hoffman, W. and Fritts, T. H., Sea turtle distribution along the boundary of the Gulf Stream Current off eastern Florida, *Herpetologica*, 38, 405, 1982.
- 104. Grant, G. S. and Ferrell, D., Leatherback turtle, *Dermochelys coriacea* (Reptilia: Dermochelidae): notes on near-shore feeding behavior and association with cobia, *Brimleyana*, 19, 77, 1993.
- Leary, T. R., A schooling of leatherback turtles, *Dermochelys coriacea coriacea*, on the Texas coast, *Copeia*, 1957, 232, 1957.
- Lazell, J. D., Jr., New England waters: critical habitat for marine turtles, Copeia, 1980, 290, 1980.
- 107. Duron, M., Quero, J. C., and Duron, P., Présence dans les eaux cotières de France et de Guyane fréquentées par Dermochelys coriacea L., de Remora remora L., et de Rhizostoma pulmo L., Annal. Soc. Sci. Nat. Charente-Mar., 7, 147, 1983.
- Collard, S. B., Leatherback turtles feeding near a watermass boundary in the eastern Gulf of Mexico, Mar. Turtle Newsl., No. 50, 12, 1990.

- Duron, M. and Duron, P., Des tortues luths dans le pertuis Charentais, Courr. Nat., 69, 37, 1980.
- 110. Eisenberg, J. F. and Frazier, J., A leatherback turtle (*Dermochelys coriacea*) feeding in the wild, *J. Herpetol.*, 17, 81, 1983.
- 111. Limpus, C. J., A benthic feeding record from neritic waters for the leathery turtle (*Dermochelys coriacea*), *Copeia*, 1984, 552, 1984.
- 112. Eckert, S. A., Eckert, K. L., Ponganis, P., and Kooyman, G. L., Diving and foraging behavior of leatherback sea turtles (*Dermochelys coriacea*), Can. J. Zool., 67, 2834, 1989.
- 113. Brongersma, L. D., Miscellaneous notes on turtles. III. *Proc. K. Ned. Akad. Wet-Amsterdam, Ser. C*, 73, 323, 1970.
- 114. Bleakney, J. S., Reports of marine turtles from New England and eastern Canada, *Can. Field Nat.*, 79, 120, 1965.
- 115. Brongersma, L. D., Miscellaneous notes on turtles. IIA and IIB. *Proc. K. Ned. Akad. Wet.-Amsterdam, Ser. C*, 72, 76, 1969.
- Den Hartog, J. C. and van Nierop, M. M., A study on the gut contents of six leathery turtles *Dermochelys coriacea* (Linnaeus) (Reptilia:Testudines:Dermochelyidae) from British waters and from the Netherlands, *Zool. Verh.* (*Leiden*), No. 209, 1984.
- 117. Frazier, J., Meneghel, M. D., and Achaval, F., A clarification on the feeding habits of *Dermochelys coriacea*, *J. Herpetol.*, 19, 159, 1985.
- 118. Limpus, C. J. and McLachlan, N., The conservation status of the leatherback turtle, Dermochelys coriacea, in Australia, in Proceedings of the Australian Marine Turtle Conservation Workshop held at Sea World Nara Resort, Gold Coast, Queensland Department of Environment and Heritage, and Australian Nature Conservation Agency, Queensland, Australia, 1994, 68.
- 119. Davenport, J. and Balazs, G. H., "Fiery bodies" are pyrosomas an important component of the diet of leatherback turtles?, *Br. Herpetol. Soc. Bull.*, 37, 33, 1991.
- 120. Grassman, M. A. and Owens, D. W., Development and extinction of food preferences in the loggerhead sea turtle, *Caretta caretta*, *Copeia*, 1982, 965, 1982.
- 121. Steele, C. W., Grassman, M. A., Owens, D. W., and Matis, J. H., Application of decision theory in understanding food choice behavior of hatchling loggerhead sea turtles and chemosensory imprinting in juvenile loggerhead sea turtles, *Experientia*, 45, 202, 1989.
- 122. Balazs, G. H., Ecological aspects of green turtles at Necker Island, Report Hawaii Institute of Marine Biology, Kaneohe, HI, 1977.
- 123. Hungate, R. E., The Rumen and Its Microbes, Academic Press, New York, 1966.
- 124. Greenwood, Y., Hall, F. J., Orpin, C. G., and Paterson, I. W., Microbiology of seaweed digestion in Orkney sheep, *J. Physiol. London*, 343, 121, 1983.
- Greenwood, Y., Orpin, C. G., and Paterson, I. W., Digestibility of seaweeds in Orkney sheep, J. Physiol. London, 343, 120, 1983.
- 126. Orpin, C. G., Greenwood, Y., Hall, F. J., and Paterson, I. W., The rumen microbiology of seaweed digestion in Orkney sheep, *J. Appl. Bacteriol.*, 59, 585, 1985.
- 127. Morreale, S. J. and Standora, E. A., Habitat use and feeding activity of juvenile Kemp's ridleys in inshore waters of the northeastern U.S., in *Proc. 11th Annu. Workshop on Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation*, Salmon, M. and Wyneken, J., Compilers, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-302, Miami, FL, 1991, 75.
- 128. Keinath, J. A., Musick, J. A., and Byles, R. A., Aspects of the biology of Virginia's sea turtles: 1979–1986, V. J. Sci., 38, 329, 1987.

- 129. McRoy, C. P. and McMillan, C., Production ecology and physiology of seagrasses, in *Seagrass Ecosystems: a Scientific Perspective*, McRoy, C. P. and Helfferich, C., Eds., Marcel Dekker, New York, 1977, 53.
- Ogden, J. C., Robinson, L., Whitlock, K., Daganhardt, H., and Cebula, R., Diel foraging patterns in juvenile green turtles (*Chelonia mydas* L.) in St. Croix, United States Virgin Island, *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.*, 66, 199, 1983.
- 131. Greenway, M. The effects of cropping on the growth of *Thalassia testudinum* (König) in Jamaica, *Aquaculture*, 4, 199, 1974.
- 132. Tighe, S. A., Grazing of Seagrasses by the Green Turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) in St. Croix, U.S.V.I., Thesis, Fairleigh Dickinson University, Rutherford, NJ, 1981.
- 133. Zieman, J. C., Iverson, R. L., and Ogden, J. C., Herbivory effects on *Thalassia testudinum* leaf growth and nitrogen content, *Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser.*, 15, 151, 1984.
- 134. Dredge, M. C. L., Growth and mortality in an isolated bed of saucer scallops, *Amusium japonicum balloti* (Bernardi), *Queensl. J. Agric. Anim. Sci.*, 42, 11, 1985.
- 135. Iversen, E. S., Jory, D. E., and Bannerot, S. P., Predation on queen conchs, *Strombus gigas*, in the Bahamas, *Bull. Mar. Sci.*, 39, 61, 1986.
- Hughes, G., Is a sea turtle no more than an armoured stomach?, Bull. South Afr. Assoc. Mar. Biol. Res., 11, 12, 1974.
- 137. Hendrickson, J. R., The ecological strategies of sea turtles, Am. Zool., 20, 597, 1980.
- 138. Wood, F. E. and Wood, J. R., Quantitative requirements of the hatchling green sea turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, for valine, leucine, isoleucine and phenylalanine, *J. Nutr.*, 107, 1502, 1977.
- 139. Wood, J. R. and Wood, F. E., Quantitative requirements of the hatchling green sea turtle for lysine, tryptophan, and methionine, *J. Nutr.*, 107, 171, 1977.
- 140. Patterson, J. I., Vitamin A Requirement of the Hatchling Sea Turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, Thesis, University of Arizona, Tucson, 1974.
- 141. Williams, S. L., *Thalassia testudinum* productivity and grazing by green turtles in a highly disturbed seagrass bed, *Mar. Biol.*, 98, 447, 1988.
- 142. Bjorndal, K. A., Fermentation in reptiles and amphibians, in *Gastrointestinal Microbiology*, Vol. 1, Mackie, R. I. and White, B. A., Eds., Chapman and Hall, New York, in press.
- 143. Davenport, J., Antipas, S., and Blake, E., Observations of gut function in young green turtles *Chelonia mydas* L., *Herpetol. J.*, 1, 336, 1989.
- 144. Wood, J. R. and Wood, F. E., Growth and digestibility for the green turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) fed diets containing varying protein levels, *Aquaculture*, 25, 269, 1981.
- 145. Lutcavage, M. and Lutz, P. L., Metabolic rate and food energy requirements of the leatherback sea turtle, *Dermochelys coriacea*, *Copeia*, 1986, 796, 1986.
- 146. Duron, M., Contribution à l'Étude de la Biologie de *Dermochelys coriacea* (Linné) dans les Pertuis Charentais, Thèse l'Université de Bordeaux 3me cycle, 1978.
- 147. Vijayakumaran, M., Rajagopalan, M., and Silas, E. G., Food intake and conversion in hatchlings of olive ridley *Lepidochelys olivacea* fed animal and plant food, in *Sea Turtle Research and Conservation*, Silas, E. G., Vijayakumaran, M., and Meenakshisundaram, P. T., Eds., CMFRI Bulletin No. 35, Cochin, India, 1984, 41.
- 148. Bjorndal, K. A., Cellulose digestion and volatile fatty acid production in the green turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, 63A, 127, 1979.
- 149. Bjorndal, K. A., Digestibility of the sponge *Chondrilla nucula* in the green turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, *Bull. Mar. Sci.*, 47, 567, 1990.
- Hadjichristophorou, M., and Grove, D. J., A study of appetite, digestion and growth in juvenile green turtle (*Chelonia mydas* L.) fed on artificial diets, *Aquaculture*, 30, 191, 1983.

- Davenport, J. and Scott, C. R., Individuality of growth, appetite, metabolic rate and assimilation of nutrients in young green turtles (*Chelonia mydas L.*), *Herpetol. J.*, 3, 26, 1993.
- 152. Bjorndal, K. A., Bolten, A. B., and Moore, J. E., Digestive fermentation in herbivores: effect of food particle size, *Physiol. Zool.*, 63, 710, 1990.
- 153. Bjorndal, K. A. and Bolten, A. B., Body size and digestive efficiency in a herbivorous freshwater turtle: advantages of small bite size, *Physiol. Zool.*, 65, 1028, 1992.
- 154. Bjorndal, K. A. and Bolten, A. B., Digestive processing in a herbivorous freshwater turtle: consequences of small intestine fermentation, *Physiol. Zool.*, 63, 1232, 1990.
- 155. Bjorndal, K. A., Suganuma, H., and Bolten, A. B., Digestive fermentation in green turtles, *Chelonia mydas*, feeding on algae, *Bull. Mar. Sci.*, 48, 166, 1991.
- Zimmerman, L. C. and Tracy, C. R., Interactions between the environment and ectothermy and herbivory in reptiles, *Physiol. Zool.*, 62, 374, 1989.
- 157. Meylan, A., The role of sponge collagens in the diet of the hawksbill turtle (*Eretmochelys imbricata*), in *Biology of Invertebrate and Lower Vertebrate Collagens*, Bairati, A. and Garrone, R., Eds., Plenum Press, New York, 1985, 191.
- 158. Meylan, A., Nutritional characteristics of sponges in the diet of the hawksbill turtle, *Eretmochelys imbricata*, in *New Perspectives in Sponge Biology*, Rützler, K., Ed., Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1990, 472.
- Bjorndal, K. A., Diet mixing: nonadditive interactions of diet items in an omnivorous freshwater turtle, *Ecology*, 72, 1234, 1991.
- 160. Bjorndal, K. A. and Bolten, A. B., Digestive efficiencies in herbivorous and omnivorous freshwater turtles on plant diets: do herbivores have a nutritional advantage?, *Physiol. Zool.*, 66, 384, 1993.
- Davenport, J. and Oxford, P. J., Feeding, gut dynamics, digestion and oxygen consumption in hatchling green turtles (*Chelonia mydas L.*), *Br. J. Herpetol.*, 6, 351, 1984.
- Birse, R. F. and Davenport, J., A study of gut function in young loggerhead sea turtles, Caretta caretta L. at various temperatures, Herpetol. J., 1, 170, 1987.
- 163. Meienberger, C., Wallis, I. R., and Nagy, K. A., Food intake rate and body mass influence transit time and digestibility in the desert tortoise (*Xerobates agassizii*), *Physiol. Zool.*, 66, 847, 1993.
- 164. Penry, D. L., and Jumars, P. A., Modeling animal guts as chemical reactors, *Am. Nat.*, 129, 69, 1987.
- 165. Balazs, G. H., Impact of ocean debris on marine turtles: entanglement and ingestion, in *Proc. Workshop on the Fate and Impact of Marine Debris*, Shomura, R. S. and Yoshida, H. O., Eds., NOAA Tech. Memo. NOAA-TM-NMFS-SWFC-54, Honolulu, HI, 1985, 387.
- Carr, A., Impact of nondegradable marine debris on the ecology and survival outlook of sea turtles, Mar. Pollut. Bull., 18, 352, 1987.
- 167. Bjorndal, K. A., Bolten, A. B., and Lagueux, C. J., Ingestion of marine debris by juvenile sea turtles in coastal Florida habitats, *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 28, 154, 1994.
- National Research Council, Decline of the Sea Turtles: Causes and Prevention, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C., 1990.
- Hall, R. J., Belisle, A. A., and Sileo, L., Residues of petroleum hydrocarbons in tissues of sea turtles exposed to the Ixtoc I oil spill, J. Wildl. Dis., 19, 106, 1983.
- 170. Hutchinson, J. and Simmonds, M., Escalation of threats to marine turtles, *Oryx*, 26, 95, 1992.

- 171. Lutz, P. L., Studies on the ingestion of plastic and latex by sea turtles, in *Proc. 2nd Int. Conf. Marine Debris*, Shomura, R. S. and Godfrey, M. L., Eds., NOAA Tech. Memo. NOAA-TM-NMFS-SWFSC-154, Honolulu, HI, 1990, 719.
- 172. Schulman, A. A. and Lutz, P., The effect of plastic ingestion on lipid metabolism in the green sea turtle (*Chelonia mydas*), in *Proc. 12th Annu. Workshop on Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation*, Richardson, J. I. and Richardson, T. H., Compilers, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-361, Miami, FL, 1995, 122.
- 173. Pauly, D. and Christensen, V., Primary production required to sustain global fisheries, *Nature*, 374, 255, 1995.
- Wetherall, J. A., Balazs, G. H., Tokunaga, R. A., and Yong, M. Y. Y., Bycatch of marine turtles in North Pacific high-seas driftnet fisheries and impacts on the stocks, North Pac. Comm. Bull., 53, 519, 1993.
- 175. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and National Marine Fisheries Service, Recovery plan for the Kemp's ridley sea turtle (*Lepidochelys kempii*), National Marine Fisheries Service, St. Petersburg, FL, 1992.
- 176. National Research Council, An Assessment of Techniques for Removing Offshore Structures, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C., 1996.
- 177. Bjorndal, K. A., unpublished data.
- 178. Limpus, C., personal communication.
- 179. McCauley, S. J. and Bjorndal, K. A., unpublished data.

The BIOLOGY of SEA TURTLES



Peter L. Lutz John A. Musick



Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

The biology of sea turtles / edited by Peter L. Lutz and John A. Musick.

p. cm. — (CRC marine science series)
Includes bibliographical references (p.) and index.
ISBN 0-8493-8422-2

1. Sea turtles. I. Lutz, Peter L. II. Musick, John A.

III. Series: Marine science series.

QL666.C536B56 1996

597.92---dc20

96-36432

CIP

This book contains information obtained from authentic and highly regarded sources. Reprinted material is quoted with permission, and sources are indicated. A wide variety of references are listed. Reasonable efforts have been made to publish reliable data and information, but the author and the publisher cannot assume responsibility for the validity of all materials or for the consequences of their use.

Apart from any fair dealing for the purpose of research or private study, or criticism or review, as permitted under the UK Copyright Designs and Patents Act, 1988, this publication may not be reproduced, stored or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, microfilming, and recording, or by any information storage or retrieval system, without the prior permission in writing of the publishers, or in the case of reprographic reproduction only in accordance with the terms of the licenses issued by the Copyright Licensing Agency in the UK, or in accordance with the terms of the license issued by the appropriate Reproduction Rights Organization outside the UK.

All rights reserved. Authorization to photocopy items for internal or personal use, or the personal or internal use of specific clients, may be granted by CRC Press LLC, provided that \$.50 per page photocopied is paid directly to Copyright Clearance Center, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923 USA. The fee code for users of the Transactional Reporting Service is ISBN 0-8493-8422-2/97/\$0.00+\$.50. The fee is subject to change without notice. For organizations that have been granted a photocopy license by the CCC, a separate system of payment has been arranged.

The consent of CRC Press LLC does not extend to copying for general distribution, for promotion, for creating new works, or for resale. Specific permission must be obtained in writing from CRC Press LLC for such copying.

Direct all inquiries to CRC Press LLC, 2000 N.W. Corporate Blvd., Boca Raton, Florida 33431.

Trademark Notice: Product or corporate names may be trademarks or registered trademarks, and are used only for identification and explanation, without intent to infringe.

Visit the CRC Press Web site at www.crcpress.com

© 1997 CRC Press LLC

No claim to original government works
International Standard Book Number 0-8493-8422-2
Library of Congress Card Number 96-36432
Printed in the United States of America 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0
Printed on acid-free paper